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August 1903 -

On August 3, 1903, the Board of Governors of the Salt
River Valley Water Users’ Association got some good but not
unexpected news: The U.S. Geological Surveyhad approved
the association's application for construction of a dam and
reservoir at the Tonto Basin site on the Salt River. The
governors received the news in a letter from Benjamin A,
Fowler, association president, who had gone to Denver,
Cotorado, to meet with Frederick H. Newell, chief of the
Reclamation Service, and Arthur Davis, engineer in charge
of the preliminary work for the Tonto reservoir. Fowler
wrote the application was being forwarded to Secretary of
the Interior Ethan A. Hitchcock for his approval. In
addition, Fowler said, orders were being issued by the
Reclamation Service, which meant moving ahead with the
project. !

Soon after, there was tangible evidence the Reclamation
Service was doing something more than making surveys.
Charles P. Mullen, in charge of keeping the engineers in
supplies, came to Phoenix and purchased eight mules, two
wagons, six scrapers, shovels, a stove, and groceries, 2 The
Arizona Republican reported the supplies were for use in
construction of a 23-mile-long road from Livingston to
timberland in the Sierra Anchas, a line of mountains to the
north and northeast where the Reclamation Service
intended to operate a portable sawmill to supply lumber for
building the cement mill and other structures at the reservoir
site. 3 The sawmill was to have several locations, 4the first of
them near the falls of Wild Raose Creek, about 35 milesfrom
the dam site. $

Mullen said the entire route for a road between the dam
and Phoenix had not been selected, ® while the Arizona
Silver Belt, in Globe, reported,

The proposed wagon road to Phoenix is not seriously talked of
Jor the reason that it is impracticable. It would cost probably
$150,000, an amount out of all proportion to the benefit that would
be derived from it, and the farmers would have to pay for it.
Besides, a wagon road from the mouth of Tonto to Phoenix
available jor freighting is impossible. Globe will handle all the
Jreight.?

"The Silver Belthad reported earlier the Gila Valley, Globe
and Northern Railway, which served Globe, already had
received inquiries concerning the movement of large
quantities of cement, fuel oil, and steel. ®

Mullen also had the job of buying the land of settlers in
the Tonto Basin, ? at up to $30 anacre. '® Some believed that
once it became known the government intended to goahead
with the reservoir, owners of land in the basin to be flooded
would ask exorbitant prices for their acreage. Because of
this, it was decided in advance to have private parties take
options on as much ground as they could get, In this way,
some of the property was “secured at nominal prices,” ! but
publication of what was happening caused problems, and
some owners refused to sell. 12 A few of the owners and the
govenment couid not agree on price, so the U.S. Department
of Justice took them to court. At least one of these cases did
not end until 1918 when the governors agreed to pay $5,000
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to Marion Braddock for the submerging of his ground; in
addition, ke retained title to the iand. ' Some of the options
were paid for with property tax fundscollected for use by the
Maricopa County Board of Water Storage
Comrnissioners. 14 In 1916, the vaiue of the submerged land,
including the price paid for the dam site, was put at
$152,415.79. 15

On August 19, the Arizona Gazette printed a story from
Denver saying the government had advertised for bids for
construction of the cement mill near the site of the proposed
reservoir and for erection of a telephone line. ¢ The
advertisement said the steel and timber cement mill building
would be built “on the Salt River, opposite the mouth of
Tonto Creek, requiring about eight tons of structural steel
and iron.” 17 The telephone line was to run from Phoenix to
Livingston via Mesa, Goldfield, and Fish Creek. 13

‘The advertisement for bids had been made without
Secretary Hitchcock’s formal approval for construction of
the reservoir. Davis was questioned about this by a Phoenix
newspaperman, and the engineer explained this was the
same way the Reclamation Service had begun work on its
first project, the Truckee River diversion dam in Nevada,
Davis said: '

The official act of the government in its decision to build the
Nevada project consisted of the request for bids to construct the
dam, made by myself, and the acceptance of the lowest bid by
authority of the secretary. Work began on that projectat once, and
I presume the same will be true in the case of the Tonto Basin
project. '

Davis said the bids, which would be received until
September 21, included machinery for the manufacture of
cement and for a temporary power plant to provide
electricity for use in the construction work. %

Before August ended, Louis C. Hill, a former professor of
physics and electrical engineering who had joined the
Reclamation Service, arrived in Phoenix, 2! and on August
24, 1903, he took charge of all field operations in connection
with the Tonto reservoir. 2 In addition, letters from Fowler
warned political pressures were still being brought on
Hitchcock to reverse himself on the Tonto dam. 2 Fowler
said there were persistent rumors an effort would be made at
the National Irrigation Congress at Ogden, Utah,
September 15-18, to pass a resolution condemning the
Tonto Basin project as a speculative scheme for the benefit
of lands in private ownership. He expressed concern over the
effect this might have on Hitchcock. # This prompted
Vernon Clark, Phoenix businessman and irrigator, and
several others to announce they would attend the congressto
assist Fowler and George H. Maxwell, executive director of
the National Irrigation Association. 23

On September I, Davis appeared before the Maricopa
County Board of Trade to bring the members up-to-date on
what was happening. He discussed the cement mill, saying it
would be nearly a year before cement could be
manufactured. He said all the contracts to be let would be

73



awarded before Christmas. Davis spent most of the time
discussing the desirability and the cost of a wagon road
between Mesa and the dam site. He said the road from Globe
would be shorter than from Mesa,

but to offset the differences, the advantages are with Mesa, as we
would be forced to come here for our forage and labor, which
would be a great deal cheaper than at Globe, which is only a mining
camp and sparsely settled. Another possible advantage would be
railroad rates, which may be a very important factor, but there
must be a large difference in the Globe railroad rates and the rates
here to make up for the difference in wagon rates. . .

AUl things considered, we would prefer that the freight came this
way. If we could have a road whereby we could make the distance in
one day with a buggy and two days with a wagon, it would be a
great improvement over the inconveniences we have to endure by
going by way of Globe. 3

Davis said, however, that because the road from Globe
was shorter and better, the Reclamation Service had about
concluded the road to Mesa would be too expensive to
undertake under the irrigation act. For $5,000 or $6,000, he
said, the road from Globe could be shortened from 43 miles
to about 38 or 39 miles, while the road from Mesa might cost
between $150,000 and $200,000. He said it was over this
route the power transmission line as well as the telephone
line would have to be constructed. Eleven miles of the route
through the Salt River Canyon was in very rough country
known as Fish Creek Hill, but should the people of the
Valley agree to pay for that portion of the road at a cost of
about $100,000, Davis said he believed the government
“would be justified in building the balance out of the
reclamation fund.” 2’ He also had heard the rumor a trolley
line was going to be built from Mesa to the Tonto Basin: if
true, he said, “the matter of freight would be settled, for
wagons could not compete with electricity.” 2 The rumor
proved untrue.

Davis said two roads were then under construction, the
lumber road, and a three-mile road from the site of the
cement works to the clay hills. Davis said about 12,000 tons
of clay would be needed. 2 The clay deposits were about
one- and one-half miles north of the river while the cement
works were to be constructed south of the river.

During excavation for the power canal, clay was found
south of the river and closer to the mill building, so the clay
road north of the Salt was little used. The one- and one-half
miles of the road south of the river formed part of the regular
freight road to Globe until water backed up by the reservoir
flooded it, '

Some work had been done on a road from the dam site
toward the head of the power canal, and work was to begin
on the telephone road, Davis said. 3 The latter road was to
become the freight road between the dam and Mesa,

After hearing Davis, Board of Trade members discussed
raising money for the Fish Creek Hill portion of the road.
Some suggested bonding the county, while others thought
Phoenix, Tempe, and Mesa should supply the funds, 2

The Board of Trade also named Davis as one of its
representatives to the National Irrigation Congress, 3 but
Davis later said he would have been there anyway under
orders from Newell. Davis said he spent most of his time at
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the congress discussing engineering problems confronting
the Reclamation Service in the various projects. 34

At the congress, Charies C. Reppy of Florence, Pinal
County, Arizona, wanted a resolution adopted demanding
Congress enact a law prohibiting the spending of any
reclamation fund money where any land was owned by
private persons, Maricopa County Supervisor John P.
Orme, returning to Phoenix from the Utah meeting, said
Davis killed the Reppy proposal by saying there was not a
single feasible irrigation project in the nation that did not
involve some privately owned land; that the Tonto Basin
project was the most feasible in the West, and that the San
Carlos dam was not recommended because the depth to
bedrock made it impractical and because it would have
benefited no one but the Indians, something not
contemplated by the reclamation act. 3*

Orme said Reppy “printed and circulated the bare-faced
statement that Newell, Davis and Maxwell had been bribed,
and he showed a picture of Mr. Maxwell’s residence east of
town, probably with a view of making it appear that this
house was the bribe that was given to Mr. Maxwell, All of his
accusations fell flat and were unheeded.” 3

Bids for the Reclamation Service work in the Tonto Basin
were opened September 23 in Denver but the biddersand the
amounts were not disclosed. ¥

The governors met October 5 and passed a resolution
authorizing Fowler to appoint a committee of three,

Louis C. Hill



including himself, to discuss the advisa....ty of building a
road from the Valiey to the dam site. The resolution invited
the Board of Trade and the Phoenix, Tempe, and Mesa
councils to appoint similar committees, 3

In the daysthatfollowed, each of the towns and the Board
of Trade complied, with Davis telling the Phoenix council
the government could construct a trail sufficient for erecting
the transmission line for $25,000. If the Valley residents were
willing to raise $100,000, he was sure the government would
increase its spending by another $50,000 to provide a good
freight road, ¥

Davis also made arrangements for office space in the
rooms of the Water Users’ Association, Nicholson Building,
34 North Center Street, thereby making Phoenix his
headquarters, 4

On October 14, 4 Hitchock issued an order to Charles D,
Walcott, director of the U, S. Geological Survey, to make
contracts for.the preliminary work on the Tonto reservoir. 4
In addition, the Reclamation Service was authorized to
exercise the options it had taken on land in the Tonto Basin,
Those were due to expire October 20, 4

In reporting these matters, Charles C. Randolph,
Washington correspondent of the Republican, wrote,

A source of annoyance to ithe [Interior] depariment is the
attitude of several holders of land in the reservoir site who appear
determined to hold up the government for excessive sums for their
holdings. It is the policy of the department to avoid litigation and it
will be liberal with land owners but it will not submit to extortions

aof the kind mentioned, , . There is no doubt thut contracts would

have been let some time ago but jor obstacles created by land
owners. ¥ ‘

Accounts of Hitchcock’s actions were published the
morning of October I5. Former Phoenix Mayor Walter
Talbot and Clark, along with many others, viewed the
announcement about the contracts as the culmination of the
long struggle to geta reservoir. Talbotand Clark decided the
time had come to celebrate, They took up a collection and
then got some posters out announcing a meeting at 3 p.m. at
the Board of Trade. They arranged for the Pioneer Band to
play that night, and they bought all the fireworks they could
find in the city, 45

At the meeting, it was quickly agreed “a jollification
meeting” 4 was in order that night, the details to be looked
after by a committee of five that included Talbot and Clark,
Another committee of three was assigned to send telegrams
of appreciation to President Theodore Roosevelt,
Hitchcock, Walcott, Newell, Davis, and Maxwell. 47 A vote
of thanks was given to Fowler and a request he speak.,
Fowler thanked the group for its vote. He said that much
remained to be done, but he was certain with cooperation,
loyal support of each other, and patience, success was
assured, 4

Shortly after 7 p.m., the Pioneer Band marched up and
down Washington Street, First Avenue, and Adams Street,
with the crowd stopping in front of the Adams Hotel at
Center and Adams, All the while, cannon crackers, little
torpedoes, and other fireworks were set off so that “the
Fourth of July was as nothing in comparison.” 4

The men chosen to speak at the jollification were on the

balcony of the Adam. .otel. The four stories of the hotel
were a blaze of electric lights. Among the speakers were
Governor Alexander Q. Brodie, attorney Joseph L. B.
Alexander, hotelman Johr C. Adams, and Fowler. Various
of the speakers made menticn of Fowler and Maxwell.
Credit also was given to Joseph H. Kibbey, legal counse}, %

Alexander recalled there was a time when he, as many
others, had been in doubt as to whether the reservoir would
be built. But those doubts had been allayed after Brodie had
returned from Washington and told Alexander the
president had expressed a desire the dam be built. Alexander
closed by saying the peopie should support the construction
of the Tonto Basin road. !

When the speeches were over, the Pioneer Band marched
to the newspaper offices and gave serenades, the
merrymaking continuing until late. 52

Davis returned to Phoenix October 18, Inan interview, he

- said preparatory work for construction of the power canal

would go on while the cement works were being huilt. He
said some cement would be required for the power canal, 53
 Another visitor was Edward T. Duryea of Colton,
California, a government specialist in the manufacture of
Portland cement. Duryea explained how the cement would
be produced. He said the plant would be as small as any
made but still would cost $100,000. Its capacity would be 300
barrels a day. The plant would be within 2,000 feet of the
dam site. Just behind the plant location was a hill from
which limestone would be taken. The limestone overlaid the
mountain, so it would be necessary to quarry. The clay with
which the limestone would be mixed was three miles distant.
The heat for the kilns through which the mixture would pass
would be furnished by burning oil. It would take 1! gallons
of oil for each barrel of cement, The oil, purchased in
California, would cost one cent a gallon. Delivered to
Phoenix, it would cost two cents a gallon, or to Globe, three
cents. It would take another five cents to deliver to the
cement plant. Adding the cost of labor and electric power,
the expense of producing 200,000 barrels was put at $2 a
barrel, Duryea estimated that if the cement was bought in
the marketplace, by the time it was delivered to the dam site
it would cost $8 per barrel. %

Duryea also said the conditions for the manufacture of
cement were as favorable at the site of the San Carlosdamas
they were at the Tonto Basin, %

On Qctober 22, the committee to build the road to Tonto
Basin, under the chairmanship of Kibbey, issued a report in
the form of a proposed federal law that would allow
Phoenix, Tempe, and Mesa to sell bonds to raise money for
construction of the road. Congressional approval was
needed because of an 1886 law known as the Harrison Act,
The act limited territories and their political subdivisions
from issuing bonds without first receiving permission from
Congress.

In late October, about 200 men were working on the
various works at the Tonto Basin. One-half of them were
Apache Indians from the San Carlos Reservation. They
were paid $1.50 per day plus board. The white men received
$2 per day, rations, and lodging. ¥
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* Hitchcock announced on October 31 bids for building the
power canal would be received by the Interior Department
until December 8. The bids would be,

Jor the construction of about eighteen miles of canal, pressure
pipes and tunnels, together with headworks, spill-ways and pates,
Jor the diversion and conduction of about 200 cubic feet of water
per second, from Salt River, about 25 miles north of Globe,
Arizone, for power purposes. Proposals must be submitted in three

bids, one for tunnels, one for pressure pipes, and one for other
structures. ¢

Fowler and Kibbey presented the governors the results of
the road committee’s work on November 3, 1903, The
governors authorized Fowler to go to Washington to work
for passage of the proposed law to allow the cities of
Phoenix, Tempe, and Mesa to bond themselves for building
the Tonto Basin road. The governorsalso authorized Fowler
and Kibbey to negotiate a lease for office space on the second
floor of the new post office building, on the southeast corner
of Monroe and Center, %

The next week, Louis Hill, Henry A. Storrs, a
government electrical engineer, and two others arrived in
Phoenix from the Tonto Basin over the route of the
proposed wagon and telephone road, ® Hill said excavation
for the cement mill foundation was progressing and
preparations for making brick necessary for erection of the
building almost was finished. 6! Soon after, it was

‘announced the Interior Department was asking bids for a

thousand barrels of cement for use in the cement mill
foundation, the temporary powerhouse, and other
structures, 8

Davis also had worked up the specifications for bids on
driving a 500-foot tunnel through a solid rock formation on
the north side of the river, at the dam site, The tunnel wasto
be used to divert the river around the dam site while the dam
foundation was built, It was thought that diversion, plus
water diverted into the power canal, would leave the dam site
comparatively dry. After the dam was built, irrigation water
would flow through the tunnel, which would have two
headgates, one at the upper end for use only if there was
some need to repair the one which would be farther down.
The material for the headgates had not been selected, but
both steel and bronze were being considered, 63

Storrs said the telephone line would be about 75-miles
long, but only about 50 miles would have to be constructed
because the government contemplated acquiring the poles of
the Arizona Water Co. between Phoenix and the Arizona
Dam. He said most of the poles would be iron, but about 25
miles would be wood. Delivering the poles to where they
would be raised would be difficult because of their weight
and the terrain. ¢ The contractor for the telephone line,
James R. Thorpe of Denver, had gone to San Francisco,
California, to purchase poles. 65

Meantime, the Gila Valley and Globe Telephone Co.
arranged to extend its line 24 miles from Globe to
Livingston, receiving a contribution of $800 from Globe
merchants for construction. The money was to be repaid by
free use of the line until the debt was paid and by reduced
tolls thereafter, &6

Globe businessmen, as well as some in the Salt River
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Valley, talked avout opening small stores and other
commercial enterprises at the government town site on a
high bluff three-quarters of a miie upstream of the dam, &
The government welcomed all enterprise without limitation,
except that the sale of liquor would be prohibited there and
at construction camps. %

The new town lacked a name. The Globe people discussed
it, coming up with the name Olberg after Charles R. Qlberg,
a Geological Survey engineer involved in much of the
preliminary work. ¢ Olberg, however, protested the town
being named after him, ™ and it wasn’t long before the place
was called Roosevelt. 7!

Norman H. Livingston, who operated a store at
Livingston about 1] miles upstream at the mouth of Pinto
Creek, may have been the first shopkeeper at Roosevelt, He
also planned to operate a restaurant and a hay and grain
business. E. F, Kellner & Co. of Globe planned to open a
store within a few weeks, 72

In late November, a letter from Fowler arrived. He said
the bonding bill could not be passed in the “present extra
session” of Congress, but it would be introduced early in
December and no opposition was expected, 73

Fowler also found himself in the midst of a controversy
involving the cement industry. A couple of the cement
manufacturers, one of them George Stone of San Francisco,
president of the Pacific Portland Cement Co., visited
Hitchcock and told him that the government had no
business making cement, and it would be illegal forittodo
so. M

According to a dispatch {rom Randolph, the
Republican'’s correspondent, Stone informed Hitcheock
that permitting the Geological Survey to make the cement at
the Tonto Basin would be detrimental to the Republican
Party, Stone argued the product the government intended to
make would be inferior. However, should it be
manufactured successfully, this might encourage other
persons to enter the business and cheapen the cost, thereby
destroying the industry. Stone threatened to try to geta bili
through Congress to prevent the government from making
cement, He also intimated cement could be delivered to the -
reservoir site for under $5 per barrel. Randolph said this
compared with the $2.50 per barrel it would cost if made at
the dam site and the $9.50 per barrel being asked by the
“cement trust.” ™

Stone denied there was a cement trust, but acknowledged
there was an association of Portland cement manufacturers.
He said he could supply the government with cement at
$1.75 per barrel f.0.b. Adding the cost of railroad shipping,
the cement could be delivered in Phoenix at $3.25 perbarrel,
or Globe at $3.55, provided he got the contractfor the entire
estimated 200,000 barrels. Added to the price would be the
wagon haul to the dam from Globe, which would mean
another $1.90 for a total of $5.45 per barrel. ¥

As soon as Fowler learned about the cement makers’
insistence on supplying the cement, he began lining up
support from senators and representatives to protect the
Water Users’ Association’s interasts, 7

In Phoenix, Davis said that, evenif the cement price came



down te 35.50 per barrel, that would swi be more than
double what it would cost to produce at the site, ™

Davis also said that contracts for the cement machinery
and buildings already had been received as well as proposals
for hauling the materials to the Tonto Basin. Based on these
expenses, he said the cement plant would cost less to build
than estimated. If a reduction in the cost of transporting the
oil could be secured, the price per barrel of cement would be
even lower, 7

“The cost would not be more than $2 per barrel after the
mill has been completed,” Davis said. 3 He suggested the
government invite bids from manufacturers to praduce
cement at the dam site, which would eliminate the cost of
freight. It also would force the successful bidder to do the
work as decided by the Reclamation Service, but this wasa
matter for Hitchcock to decide, Davis said. 8

The cement makers met with Interior Department
officials November 25, After the meeting, department
officials announced they would ask for bids on 200,000
barrels of cement, letting it also be known the government
had given up, at least temporarily, the idea of making its own
cement. The bids were expected to take one of two forms: the
government to furnish at the site a 250-barrel per day mill
and power to operate it, or the cement to be manufactured
elsewhere, shipped to Globe or Phoenix by rail, and hauled
to the Tonto Basin. The manufacturers and Interior
Department agreed to ask the railroads for reduced rates; if
the railroads agreed, the lowest bids would be sought from
the makers and the government’s plant abandoned, 2

Davis said that, if the cement mill at the Tonto site was
given up, it was certain the dam and reservoir “can never be
built for the original estimate.” 8

The Republican suggested a cement company be
organized in the Valley should there be a call for bids. 8¢ The

Guazette proposed t. ranchers of the Water Users
Association take control of the cement plant, 8 while the
Enterprise said protests to the Interior Department’s
deciston should be sent through Fowler, 86

On December 2, work was shut down on the Tonto road
above Goldfield about 22 miles northeast of Mesa,®
Although newspapers described the halt in work as
temporary, 88 apparently to allow for a more complete
survey of the road, ¥ “rumors respecting ithad grownfroma
mole hill into a mountain.” % One rumor was work had been
suspended at the Tonto Basin, and another was Davis had
been replaced. ¥ Davis had left for the reservoir site soon
after the road work had stopped, % When he returned
December 23, Davis said the rumors were wrong.
Everything was proceeding nicely, and there was nothing to
worry about, he said. % This included demonstrating for
prospective bidders the character of the work connected
with the power canal and preparing the cement mill
foundation. Material for the telephone line was being
distributed, % and the road to the sawmill site was
completed. % Inaddition, J. E. Sturgeon of Tempe signed an
agreement to farm the land in the Tonto Basin acquired by
the government from settlers, %

On December 18, the road bonding bill was approved by
the U.S. House of Representatives, ¥ and on December 19
Newell testified about the cement question at a special joint
meeting of the Senate and House Committees on Irrigation.
Newell said the government would manufacture cement at
the dam site if that was the cheapest way to get it. He said it
was doubtful the cement makers could deliver it cheaper. If
there was any possibility that could happen, it would be
because of the high price of shipping oil from California to
the Tonto Basin. But even then, Newell said he did not think
the private cement makers could produce it for less. %

Globe. A typical teamster, February 6, 1904.
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Davis had been criticized for not calling for bids, but
Newell said Davis had obtained figures “from California
manufacturers nearest to the dam site, showing the lowest
price of cement, delivered at the site, would be 39 per barrel.”
Newell said if bids had been solicited, it would have spared
him criticism too, but he thought Davis was justified in
considering the $9 per barrel figure was made in good faith.
Newell said Davis had not considered the quotationtobea
starting point for future negotiations. He said Davis was a
frank person, and he expected the cement makers would be
the same. Davis should not be censured because he
overlooked the finagling that went on in negotiating
prices. 9

Bids were opened December 23 at the Interior
Department for construction of the 500-foot tunnel on the
north side of the river, ¥ On January 6, 1904, bids were
opened for the power canal, 9! and two days later the
department received bids for the delivery of 1,000 barrels of
cement at Globe, the low bid being $4.80 per barrel. The
same news dispatch reporting the cement bid said the
government engineers, in calculating the cost of cement
delivered at the dam, learned a mining company at Globe
was paying $6.80 per barrel. Adding the cost of carrying the
cement 40 miles over the mountain trail, they had come up
with the $9 per barrel estimate, 92

Cement at $9 per barre! would have made the building of
a masonary dam prohibitive. This had led to the search for
materials to determine whether cement could be produced
there, Eight rock and clay samples were sent to the cement
works at Colton for analysis. Test results showed a good
quality material could be made. 183

The same day the bids for the cement were opened, the
Senate passed the bonding bill, It was expected it would
reach the president for his signature on January 12.1%¢
However, Roosevelt did not sign it until January 21, 195
Fowler wrote the delay in signing “was caused by the fact of
it being a bill affecting the territory and hence necessitating
several references and no little red tape,”™ 196

Meantime, the consulting and construction engineers
involved with building the various Reclamation Service
projects were called to Washington to discuss the cement
situation. The principle involved in manufacturing cement
for the Tonto Basin project was identical to that which
would apply to the other projects, The cement
manufacturers maintained the government had no,

duty te enter into the manufacture of any class of commadities.
If the government can erect cement planis to avoid the cost of
railroad transportation, middlemen's profits and manufacturer’s
profits, it is its duty to erect mills for the menufacture of blankets,
clothing, shoes, etc.,, worn by its soldiers and sailors, to
manufacture iron for its building construction, to operate mines for
its gold and silver currency, efe. . . in no case should the
government enter info any competition with the general public. "7

The cement industry argued if the dam should be built
and collapse because of poor quality cement made by the
Reclamation Service, millions of dollars invested by the
government and private land helders would be lost, The
government would be without any security, which the
private makers would provide if given the contract to make
the cement, and the only punishment to the government men
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might be the firing of an incompetent superintendent. The
manufacturers said they would be willing to produce cement
at the dam site provided the material found there met the
qualities of Portland cement of known character, but they
wanted the option of supplymg it from their own mills. If the
cement was produced at the site, the government would own
the mill, but it would provide the bidder electrical power free
for its operation. In outlining these conditions in & letter to
Hitchcock, the Portland cement industry said,

We, however, do not recognize that the government in the
construction of a dam, should, without requesting bids from
cement manufacturers for the cement o be supplied, proceed to
construct and operate a cement works as part of the construction of
the dam—such cement works and operations of the same being no
part of that which would be called for in bids for the construction of
the dam, or materiols entering therein, 198

The letter added it was a source of grauﬁcatlon to the
industry to find “that the high price at which it was claimed
cement would cost at this time, arose from the excessive cost
of transportation, and not from excessive factory price of the
material,” 109

A government engineer associated with the Tonto Basin
project, probably Davis, had told the Enterprise it “would
not be very comfortable to have outside contractors there.”
He said the contractors probably would not be satisfied with
the mill, nor would they want to work for six months and
stop for six months, if that were necessary. ! Another
problem was government laborers were restricted to
working eight hours per day, which was two hours less than
private companies. This was a 20 percent advantage in favor
of the cement makers, 11!

Another time, Davis said he did not want to be
handicapped by the presence of a private cement maker, and
he expressed confidence that would not happen, 12

Nonetheless, in accordance with its November
commitment, the Interior Department called for bids on
January 25. 1t specified the quantity at between 150,000 and
250,000 barrels. 113 Correspondent Randolph of the
Republican said this amounted “toa practical abandonment
of the project for a cement factoryat the site,” but he said the
Geological Survey had received assurances the bid would be .
about $4 per barrel, delivered at the site. He said the Globe,
Gila Valiey and Northern Railroad had made material
concessions. The bids were to be opened February 29. 114

While this was going on, progress continued onall phases
of the work, including road building—except for the section

- above Goldfield. Engineer W. A, Farish of the Reclamation

Service reported that much of the work was in rock, 13
which was one reason why the Silver Belt had written if
“some of the Phoenix enthusiasts would visit the box canyon
and see the character of the work being done to make it
possible to construct the transmission line, we think their
hearts would fail them on the wagon road proposition. The
excavatmg is nearly all in solid rock and very slow and
expensive.” 16 Despite this, by mid-January eight miles of
the road from the dam site west toward Fish Creek Hill had
been constructed, ''7 In addition, work ona high line road to
shorten the distance to Globe was progressing. !

Five miles of telephone poles had been put up from the



Arizona. Dam in the direction of the Te o Basin. "% The
men putting up the telephone line expected to reach
Mormon Fiat by February [, 120 [n all, about 400 men were
employed, including 30 on the telephone line and 75 on the
cement plant. Hill, the engineer supervising the work, said
the mill foundation was in and the building was going up.
Fifteen men were custing trees and sawing lumber in the
mountains, furnishing 5,000 to 6,000 feet of lumber a day.
Thirty were at a cadastral survey camp south of Mesa. Ten
were surveying., The remainder were building roads and
freighting supplies from Globe, 12t

The power canal contracts had been let for the excavation
of about 600,000 yards of material, the drilling of 7,000 feet
of tunnel in connection with building the power canal and
the manufacture of pressure pipe. '#2

The tiny community of Roosevelt had a barber shop, a
drugstore, a meat market, a shoe shop, a livery stable, two
restaurants, two lodging houses, and three general stores.
Two doctors were present. One of them was in private
practice, and the other worked for the government. A
private party had put up a town hall where dances were held
on Saturday night. 12 A 40,000-gallon water reservoir was
built above the cement mill site. Plans were made to pipe
water in three miles from Cottonwood Canyon through one-
and one-half and 2-inch pipes, eliminating the camp's
dependence on river water, 1

In mid-January, Kibbey was summoned to Washington
to confer with Reclamation Service officials about legal
matters in connection with the water storage project. '
While the nature of the legal matters was not disclosed, one
of them involved writing a contract between the Water
Users' Association and the Interior Department, providing
for repayment of the money advanced for building the
reservoir and associated works. As it turned out, Kibbeyalso
was involved in government negotiations to acquire the
rights of the Hudson Reservoir and Canal Co. at the Tonto
Basin. '

The day before leaving for Washington, Kibbey met with
land owners under the Salt River Valley, Maricopa, and
Grand canals to discuss formation of canal districts in
accordance with article 9 of the Water Users’ Association
articles of incorporation. The landowners approved the
form of a petition to be submitted to the Council calling for
the creation of the districts. The owners under each canal
then met separately to sign the petition for their canal. The
petition was the work of a 2l-member committee of
landowners from the three canals headed by John R.
Norton. 126 The landowners also discussed how their relative
rights to water would be determined. If there always was
enough water, this would not be a problem. But should there
be a miscalculation in the number of acres that could be
served or should drought occur, the priority of rights had to
be known, and the Reclamation Service insisted this
question be settled in the beginning. Just how this would be
done was not decided, but the filing of a friendly lawsuit or
finding another means were discussed. 77

Rumors had circulated in the Valley the Hudson
Reservoir and Canal Co. was demanding $100,000 for its

claims in the Tonto i n. According to the February 11
Gazefte, the demand had been put to the Interior
Department by former Governor Nathan O. Murphy and
Sims Ely, who was secretary of the Hudson company as well
as editor of the Republican. ©. . . owing to the demnands for
$100,000, the construction work on the Tonto reservoir has
been delayed,” the Gazette said. It said local attorneys and
those in Washington denied the Hudson company had any
claim to the reservoir site, and, if it did, its claims were not
worth a third of the price demanded. The newspaper gave
two reasons why there had been no public discussion: first,
those with knowledge of the situation did not want “to create
any unnecessary agitation in the valley,” and, second, there
was confidence that Fowler and Kibbey would take care of
the people’s interest. If claims of the Hudson company were
established, the Water Users’ Association would pay a just
sum, the paper said. 12

‘The following day, the Gazette reported the Mann family
of New York, owners of the Hudson company, claimed their
right to the Tonto dam site did not expire until October
1905, “and if they hold out, operations on the government
reservoir cannot begin until then, and probably not until
after the case has been carried to the court. This mightdelay
the dam for several years.” 129

On February 13, the Enterprise reported a compromise
price of $40,000 was to be paid to the Hudson Reservoirand
Canal Co. The newspaper commented:

This means that the farmers of Salt River Valley will have to pay
forty thousand dollars for something which neither by them norby
the povernment, prior to the institution of the Murphy and Ely
claim, was ever taken into consideration. .. If nothing else arises. ..
active work will be begun at Tonto in a short time. But for the
institution of this claim work might have been under way nearly if
not quite three months ago. 1%

The next morning, Sunday, February 14, the Gazette
editorially accused Ely, Murphy and the Republican of
trying to hold-up their neighbors. The Gazettesaid when the
Water Users’ Association was formed, the people,

did not for a moment believe that any citizen, resident or
property owner, who would be benefited by the construction of the
Tonto reservoir, would ever be guilty of attempting a hold-up and
virtually rob his friends and neighbors of 100,000, every dollar of
which is equal to a drop of blood. . .

Had the graft been attempted in the open and by outsiders, the
people would have known how to meet them on the field but to
have those who owe their present and future to the people, turn
traitor and strike in the dark, is more than the limit. . . m

The Republican chose the same Sunday morning to
comment, asserting that accusations against it and charges
that the work on the reservoir might be delayed were
inspired by the newspaper’s desire for an uninstructed
delegation to the Republican National Convention of 1904.
The Republican maintained if it could be shown it “is
connected with any object in opposition to the welfare of the
people of the valley,” its influence in the delegation matter
would be weakened. 1t said, “the newspapers. .., being served
by the Washington grapevine service” were urging an
instructed delegation to the GOP convention. 32

The Republican said it was uncertain about the claims of
the Hudson company. The newspaper said a member of the
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‘Water Users’ Association reported he had been informed by
the Interior Department the Hudson company’s right was
valid. The paper said it also had learned the agreement to
pay $40,000 had been reached with the consent of Fowler
and Kibbey. Regarding the charge the dam had been
threatened, the Republican said:

There has been at no time a cessation of operations at thedam, as
the grapevine papers well know. There was last fall o
discontinuance of work on the cement smill in conseguences of the
appeal made to the Interior Depurtment by a representative of the
cement manufacturers. Even that work is now resumed in part. All
the time a small army of men has been employed in the various’

operations possible before the actual work of dam building is
commenced. . .

The Republican seldom wastes s6 many words on
misrepresentation so uterly silly as this is. We are noi sure row that
we have no! been recklessly extravagant. '

The Republican’s words fueled the flames of journalistic
self-righteousness. For readers not privy to the behind-the-
scenes maneuvering, it helped produce only a bit more
understanding of what allegedly happened.

The Enterprise said it was a Democratic newspaperand it
was indifferent to what Republicans did. It charged the so-
called legality of the Hudson Reservoir and Canal Co. claim
had been fixed “not by exhaustive investigation before an
unbiased tribunal,” but by Murphy’s “intimate acquaintance
with Secretary Hitchcock” and by Murphy’s representations
as a lobbyist for the Santa Fe Railroad. The newspaper said
the Hudson company people had “performed no work since
1891, except to relocate the site and amend their plans from
time to time.” It said by the time Kibbeyand Fowler became
involved, they confronted “a condition, and nota theory,”
and their fight was “for as small a hold-up as possible.” Asto
the Republican, the Enterprise said:

Certain it is that the negotiations have been carried on in the
dark, consummated in the dark, and much uneasiness is being
caused the Republican by the present expose, ¥

The Gazette’s response was to accuse the Republican of
knowing “nothing of honest motives” and of never
advocating “any cause except when its managers saw a
chance for a rake-off. Honest men consider a denunciation
by the Republican as.a high compliment. . . ” The Gazette
reached a crescendo in vituperativeness:

The history of the Republican is a continued story of graft, grab,
pilfer and steal, and it has become so thoroughly saturated with evil
designs that the common ordinary foot pad, outlaw and moral
degenerate are angels in comparison. %

Meanwhile, the owner of the Republican, George W,
Vickers, sent a telegram to Kibbey recounting the statements
appearing in the Enterpriseand Gazette, He asked Kibbey to
respond. Kibbey sent a wire, which was published in the
Republican the morning of February 16:

Work was not held up on the Tonto dam site by threats of
litigation by the Hudson Reservoir company. There Is no
conclusive action yet by the Interior Department, but the sitution
is satisfactory to Mr. Fowler and myself. Governor Murphy had
nothing to do with the matter that f know of. Mr. Ely, secretary of

the company, was present af the hearing, but not as principal in
presenting it. Mr. Ely’s connection with the matter has been entirely

Jair, 13
The hearing to which Kibbey referrred apparently was
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one conducted by an advisory board of five engineers
appointed in January by the Geological Survey. Kibbeyand
Fowler represented the Water Users’ Association at the
hearing, while Henry R. Mann, president, and Elyappeared
for the Hudson Reservoir and Canal Co. The advisory board
decided $40,000 should be paid to the company, an action
the Gazette said was taken February [6. The Gazeite
correspondent in Washington reported Kibbey had told
him:

If the company had held out in the demand for 100,000, it might
have caused delay in the work on the Tonto dam indefinitely, by
litigation, especially, as it was contended that the franchise was self-
forfeiting by the mere lapse of time, but might require a judicial
declaration of forfeiture. 3!

Concerning the Kibbey telegram printed in the
Republican, the Gazette said:

The alleged telegram from Judge Kibbey might have been
secured through misrepresentation. . . 1%

Ely returned to Phoenix February 19. Upon learning
about what he said were “a lot of falsehoods concerning the
settlement between the government and the Hudson
Reservoir and Canal,” Ely wrote an article to set the record
straight. He said it was lies that the company either delayed
or threatened to delay the Tonto reservoir, that there had
been graft, that the negotiations were secret, that political
influence was involved, and that Murphy was involved in
any manner. '¥

Ely said he several times had stated in public before water
committees of Valley citizens the company would ask atleast
$100,000 and probably $200,000 for its claims. He said the
owners could have delayed construction indefinitely and
might have recovered as much as $200,000, but, “They did
not wish to be obstructionists on the eve of success—
although it was a success in which everybody but themselves
would share.”t4®

“That ended the controversy over purchase of the dam site.
The last step in the transaction was the filing by the
government of a deed to the property with the county
recorder on July 25, 1904, 14

“Three members of the Board of Governors, Alexander J.
Chandler, Frank Alkire, and Ethelbert W. Wilbur, met with
Hill February 19. Hill informed them the wagon road to the
reservoir site had been named the Phoenix-Roosevelt road,
with the length between Mesa and Roosevelt about 60 miles.
He also presented a list of the estimated construction costs of
the road between certain points, the most expensive being
two miles at Fish Creek Hill at $6,000 per mile. Hill’s
estimate was $78,100. He also said the grade at no place
would exceed six percent. Based on Hill's figures, the three
gOVernors decided to recommend a bond issue of $80,000 for
the three cities, 142

At a meeting March 1, the joint road committee met with
Hill and Davis. After an extended discussion, it was decided
the cities should provide $75,000 for construction of the
freight road. The committee adopted a resolution asking the
cities to hold bond elections in the following amounts:
Phoenix $67,500, Tempe $4,000, and Mesa $3,500. 1

Even as the committee acted, work on the road continued.
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U.S. Reclamation Service engineers, laborers and Roosevelt townspeople, February 2, 1504,

Thorpe said it was a road worth seeing and was being
constructed regardless of expense. He said it was 10 miles
from Roosevelt to the mouth of Fish Creek, and the road
was being blasted out of solid rock by blowing off the ends of
the mountains which run down the canyon. Thorpe said the
terrain reminded him of European highways, but the primal
virginity of the Tonte country had been destroyed by the
vigorous road building. 144

Hill and Duryea came in over the road, reporting travel
was not now so serious an undertaking. From their camp,
they traveled by wagon to the end of the road, then 27 miles
by horseback, then by carriage to Mesa, and then by rail to
Phoenix. 145

The telephone poles had been set to the top of Fish
Creek Hill and wire men were not far behind. 146 The
telephone from the dam site to Globe was finished and the
first message was spoken February 12, 7 A temporary
electric plant was operating at Roosevelt, furnishing power
for lights. 148 }

In late February, some of the government officials moved
their operations to the north side of the river opposite
Roosevelt. A suspension bridge was to be constructed over
the river. A number of men were laid off pending the start of
work on the power canal, 14 ‘

On February 27, the Council divided the land signed into
the Water Users’ Association into 10 districts from which
one governor and three council members would be elected
April 5, 150

Davis and Kibbey returned to the Valley, and Davis said
the cement bids would be opened February 29, and it was
unlikely there would be any bids to manufacture the cement
at the dam site. He said if the low bid was near estimates

made by government engineers, a contract would be
awarded. !4

Y . st iy

Kibbey reported he expected the government had by now
signed the contract with the association, and he expected a
copy at any time. He said it had to be ratified by members of
the assaciation. Healso said Davis had informed him that by
March 1, the government would have spent or would have
under contract §1 million on the Tonto Basin project, 52

Kibbey said the government would build the cement
works regardless of the bids. The cement mill would be built
as a precautionary measure. The reason was that the
government was not going to award the entire cement
contract at once. And on subsequent bids, if too high for the
dam’s construction, the government could produce the
cement itself. Kibbey said he expected the low bid 1o be less
than $2.75 per barrel. This would earn the manufacturer no
money, but he said the makers figured they would make
money by keeping the government out of the business. 13

On March !, Kibbey received a telegram from Fowler
saying he had the approved contract, and he would have it
with him when he arrived in Phoenix on Saturday, March
5. 15¢ A community reception was planned to honor Fowler
and Kibbey for securing the contract, 135

News of the cement bids was received March 2 in a
telegram to Davis from Newell, There were three bids for
delivery of cement at the dam site: 34,89, $5.40and §5.70. %
There also was an informal bid to deliver cement at 33 per
barrel to Globe. Davis wired Newell to reject all bids. Davis
said the government could make the cement at §3 per barrel.
He said this was an uncontroverted fact. He said no
manufacturer had investigated producing the cement at the
dam site. A reporter for the Republican asked if the
government would call for new bids or proceed to make the
cement. Davis said he could notanswer that question, 7 but
the Interior Department the next day announced all cement
bids had been rejected. 1% On March 4, the department said
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the government would make its own cement. 1%

The reception for Fowler was postponed until Monday,
March 7, because he did not arrive in Phoenix until
Saturday night. ! Sunday night, with Davis present, Fowler
gave a long interview on his affairs in Washington. He said
Kibbey and Davis arrived as the contract negotiations began
and their services were indispensable in explaining
conditions to clerks in the Interior Department who knew
nothing about the Valley and its conditions, Fowler said he
did not believe anyone could have taken the place of Kibbey
in this work. Fowler said what actually was signed was a
memorandum of agreement between the government and
the Water Users' Association. Once it was ratified by the
association and the shareholders, it would be returned to
Washington and serve as the contract. '8!

In the meantime, there would be no delay in the actual
work, Fowler said. He added the work would go on because
of the government’s strong faith in the honest purpose of the
people. He said Davis would have stopped the work six
months ago were it not for that faith. Davis concurred,
saying,"“The government felt justified in keeping on, by the
great interest of the valley in the enterprise.” Davis said a
delay of a year would have been of incalculable damage to
the farmers, perhaps by as much as $2 million, 62

Fowler said the work in the Valley was being watched
with great interest. He said the government’s approval of
what had been done was so high the articles of incorporation
and other documents prepared for the Water Users’
Association had been copied by other associations, Davis
said there was something about which Fowler would not
speak, and this was the offer of a position in the Reclamation
Service to assist in organizing other water users’
associations, Davis said the salary offered was almost twice
the amount Fowler received from the association, but he
turned down the job because his services were needed in the
Valley. 163 Fowler was paid $2,000 per year, 154

The reception for Fowler and Kibbey outside the
courthouse began at 2:30 p.m. with music by the Pioneerand
Indian School bands. The Republican said the turnout of
people was greater than the one 18 months earlier when
George Maxwell pointed the way to get the reservoir, and

the previous June when the gathering of enough acres signed
into the association was celebrated. 165

Fowler and Kibbey were compared to returning war
heros. County attorney Albert C. Baker said the Rough
Riders had not done as much for the country as had Kibbey
and Fowler. Davis said they had accomplished more than
people realized because they had induced the government to
commit itself to a definite plan, when the most that could
reasonably have been expected was a tentative and
conditional agreement. But in this instance, the government
was proceeding on the faith of the people represented by
them, Davis said, 166

Kibbey and Fowler spoke, Kibbey reviewing events
leading to the proposed contract, and Fowler stressing the
responsibility placed on the people and the confidence
expressed in them by the government in the memorand um of
agreement.

“This agreement with the government means that we will
get the dam, and get the water,” Kibbey said. “It will not,
after the dam is built, be a question of whether or not to plant
crops, or whether or not the season may be dry, for the watex
will be here,.and we will know just what we have to depend
upon.” 167 ‘

Fowler urged the passage of the road bonding bill and
read a letter from Newell recommending the road asa matte:
of convenience and economy. Fowler also read a letter fromw
Hitchcock, which had accompanied the memorandum
Hitcheock said the proposed agreement,

will secure the most economical distribution of the water upor
the lands that can profitably be bencfited thereby, will avoi
conflicts that might otherwise arise in the distribution of the water
will be most effective in preventing any interference with veste
rights that have heretofore been acquired, will equitably distribut
the cost of construction, maintenance, and operation af the works
and will assure the government reimbursement of all mone
expended in and upon the project. '

Fowler also said the contract for the power canal ha
been let at a price of about $500,000, and within 90 day
1,000 men would be at work in the Tonto Basin, 1¢°

At the conclusion of his remarks, the assembly adopted
resolution giving the “warmest kind of thanks and gratitud
of the people” to Fowler, Kibbey, Davis, and Maxwell. I
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March 1904 - February 105

The evening of March 9, 1904, the Phoenix City Council
met and voted to call a bond election April 11 to provide
money to help the Reclamation Service build the Roosevelt
road between Mesa and the Tonto Basin. Mayor Walter
Bennett, in answer to a question about who would own the
road when it was finished, said it would be a public
thoroughfare under control of and maintained by the federal
government. This would continue until the time for the
farmers to take control of the reservoir and pay for it. !

At a meeting March 15 with the Maricopa County Board
of Trade, Benjamin A. Fowler said the government would
maintain the road until the Water Users’ Association had
finished paying for the dam. Fowler, president of the
association, said that would be about 15 years from then. He
said the question of ultimate ownership had not been
decided, nor had the possibility of the sale of a franchise for
use of the road by a railroad or electric trolley. Deciding
those matters right then was less important than getting the
road, he said, 2

Louis C. Hill, Reclamation Service engineer in charge of
the work at the Tonto Basin, said March 21 the government
would keep the road in good repair as long as it retained
possession of the dam, If building the road cost more than
the $75,000 to be put up by Phoenix, Tempe, and Mesa, the
government would pay the deficiency, he said, 3

Opposition to the road seemed minimal. Inanswerto one

argument there was no hurry in completing the road, so.

there was no real hurry in voting on the bonds, Arthur P.
Davis said there was the greatest urgency. Davis, in overall
charge of operations on the Tonto Basin project for the
government, said that if the bonds were approved, the road
would be built in four months but in three months
machinery needed at the dam site would be carried overit. In
addition, there would be a savings to the farmers in the cost
of transportation. 4 It was acknowledged that because the
road from Mesa would be longer than from Globe, the
wagon haul would cost more, but this was partly offset by
the higher railroad rates to Globe. $ More than that, getting
to Globe was inconvenient, 6

Frederick H, Newell, chief engineer of the Reclamation

Service, had written to Fowler concerning the road the
previous December. Newell said,

It is essential in order to secure supplies and labar at reasonable
cost to have quick communication with the center of population
and of business in the Salt River Valley, and avoid the long round-
about railroad route and wagon transportation. . .

It is for the advantage of the people of Salt River valley to have
this wagon road built as speedily as possible as it will reduce the
ultimate cost of the works, which they must pay for and will
facilitate every step of the proceedings. . . Trade and commerce
between the cities of the valley and the construction and mining
camps in the mountains will be vastly increased.’

Another plus, Newell said, was it would help reduce the
cost of building the power transmission line. 3

Another point of opposition in Phoenix was the road
would provide greater benefits to Mesa and Tempe, which

were closer to the Tonte Basin. To this, the 4rizona
Republican said in an editoriali “A more narrow,
shortsighted view could not be entertained, and, happily,
such a view is not held by many,” ®

The Water Users’” Association issued a pamphlet, “Facts
to Be Considered by the Voters of Phoenix, Tempe and
Mesa Concerning the Tonto Road, and Voting Bonds for
Aiding in its Construction,” '® The pamphlet, written by
Joseph H. Kibbey, ! the association’s counsel, explained the
economic advantages to the Valley:

For the next four years the money expended at Tonto for labor
and food supplies, both of which can be obtained in the Salt River
valley, if not barred by the difficulty and cost of transportation, will
exceed 31,500 per day for every business day in the year; $1,000 for
labor and $560 for food supply. In other words, if the food supply is
obiained from this valley there will be expended here, on that
account alone, more than 3506 per day; and by locating the
employment office here there will be a continual stream of laborers,
numbering well up into the thousands, going and coming through
the city for several years, each one of whom would leave here more
or less cash, and te whom the total wages would exceed 51000 per
day. The greater part of wages paid to men engaged in any work is
expended where paid or at the city nearest and most convenient to
the place of payment. Can we afford to lose this additional capital
which would inevitably be put in circulation here. 1

Another argument was the Valley demand for cement for
irrigation ditches, sidewalks, and construction could be
supplied at one-half the present market cost by the
government plant at the Tonto Basin, The pamphletsaid the
cement could be hauled very cheaply by teamsters who
otherwise would return to the Valley with empty wagons. 1

Finally, the pamphlet said that, if the people failed to
support the bonds, the government would “hereafter deal at
arms’ length and take nothing of the good faith and promise
of co-operation for granted.” ¥

On March 21, the governors of the Water Users’
Association approved the form of contract between the
association and the Interior Department for building the
Tonto dam. !5 The document was sent to the Council, which
gave its approval, and, on March 28, the governors set May
10 as the date the association sharcholders would vote on
it. 16 ‘

The governors also adopted a resolution instructing that
the names of settlers upon school lands not be included
among those eligible to vote. This was done because
although the lands had been signed into the association, the
settlers did not hold title, 17 The school lands consisted of
sections 16 and 36 of each township and were reserved by the
national government for use by the Arizona Territory to
benefit the public schools. The persons farming those
sections obtained leases from the territory with the proceeds
from the leases placed in a trust fund to benefit the schools.

There were a number of other persons signed into the
association who were ineligible to vote. These included
farmers who leased lands but did not hold clear title (the
holders of title could vote). Others who could not vote were
corporations, estate administrators, executors, trustees,
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guardians, minors and residents of town sites, such as
Phoenix, uniess they owned land subscribed into the
reservoir district which was outside the municipal
boundaries, 18

Nonresidents of Arizona could vote if they owned land
and they happened to be in the Valley when the election was
held. But they could not vote by proxy. Women holding title
to land were eligible to vote. 1?

The governors' decision to deny the vote to school land
farmers applied to the election of association officers April5
as well as to the contract election. The decision drew a
protest from T. P. Coughlin, who wrote:

Settlers upon (school) land are either entitled to all the rights and
privileges of any other member of the association or they are not
members of the association at all. If said settlers have no voice in the
affairs of the association, every acre of school land is illegally
subscribed upon the books of the association and every dollar paid
by the aforesaid settlers to the association should be returned. If,
upon the other hand, should it be decided by the secretary of the
Interior that these settlers have rights in the association then the
coming election will be illegal. These settlers were asked to
subscribe their land and done so in good faith. They were only
asked for their lease upon the land and the 10 cents per acre. Their
rights of franchise as American cifizens was nol questioned. And
the mere fact that they lease land from the territory should not in
itself be such a heinous crime that they should lose their vight of
suffrage. 2 ’

The school lands problem was not resolved until 1915
when the Arizona Legislature passed a law allowinglandsin
sections 16 and 36 to be sold. In 1917, the governors agreed
to include on the association voting list occupants of school
lands who had secured purchase contracts from the State of
Arizona and had recorded them with the county recorder. 2!

A rass rally to discuss the Roosevelt road bonds was held
the evening of March 29 at the Dorris theater. Carl Hayden,
a member of the Tempe City Council, said he wasagainst the
bonds at first because he did not see how they could help
Tempe. He changed his mind, he said, because the road
would be built sometime, and there was no other time when
it could be built so cheaply. In addition, the road would have
the benefit of government engineering skills and government
construction, which meant there would be no graft.

“We would not be sure of that if we were building the road
ourselves,” Hayden said. 2

Hill answered questions and described the road, sayingin
two places the up grade would be six percent, and, in one
place, Fish Creek Hill, 10 percent, but the latter would not be
in the direction of the dam. He said other routes had been
examined and found unsuitable. 2

By the end of March, 140 men were working on the
Roosevelt road between Fish Creek Hill and the dam. 2
Construction also continued on the High Line road, 2 which
branched off the road from Globe to Livingston about six
miles above the latter place. The High Line road ran for 20
miles to the dam site. Originally, it crossed south of the
power canal line about a mile above Roosevelt, then
continued into the town. This lower road would later be
flooded by the reservoir. The High Line road also went to the
cement miil and eventually was to link with the Roosevelt
road. Like the Roosevelt road, the grade of the High Line
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road toward the dam did not exceed six percent, while 10
percent was the steepest grade toward Globe, %

The telephone line was completed from the Arizona Dam
to Fish Creek Hill and from Roosevelt ast to the point on
the Salt River where the cement diversion dam was to be
constructed to divert water into the power canal. ¥ The
survey for the power canal line was completed, and two
contracts were signed for its construction, one for
excavation and the other for tunnel work. 2 Davis went to
Los Angeles to be present at some tests of steel-reinforced
concrete pipe, which would be used to convey the power
canal water across canyons and washes. There was a
possibility the pipe would be used in the canal penstock, but
a decision on the material bad not been made. Wood stave
and iron were among other materials suggested. 2

A 300-foot-long suspension bridge, suspended from two
wire cables attached to the canyon walls, was in place over
the river. 3 One hundred men worked at quarrying and
installing slabs of limestone for the foundation at the cement
mill, which was half completed. 3! Contracts were signed for
the cement mill machinery and for the mill building. %

At Roosevelt, about 60 tents provided living quarters for
many of the men. The town had a dozen frame buildings.
There were now four general merchandise stores, four
restaurants, and a post office. Roosevelt was described as"a
live, up-to-date little town with electric lights and paved
streets.” ¥

On April 2, by a vote of 68 to 2, property owners in Mesa
approved selling $3,500 in bonds for building the Roosevelt
road. 3 Three days later, Fowler was reelected president of
the Water Users’ Association in the organization’s first
election for which 986 persons were eligible to vote.
Neither Fowler nor Dr, Ethelbert W, Wilbur, vice president,
was opposed in the election, 3

At the same time, an unsigned circular was distributed
through Phoenix urging property taxpayers to vote against
the wagon road bonds. The circular said Phoenix should do
nothing to build up Mesa and Tempe. It argued the cost of
hauling oil from Mesa would be 20 cents per hundredweight
higher than from Globe, and all freight “will go that way.” ¥

The circular went into italics over a statement by Fowler
in Washington, D.C., that the road was not “vitally”
necessary. ¥ The evening of April 9, at the final meeting on
behalf of the bonds, Fowler charged the circular
misrepresented his views. He acknowledged telling a
congressional committee that while the road did not have to
be built, it was very important and a proper business move,
and the people strongly supported it. He said he was sure the
people would demonstrate this at the election. ¥

Other speakers, including Kibbey and hotelman John C.
Adams, said building the road was a business proposition,
which would increase prosperity. Davis also spoke,
repeating some of the busginess arguments for the road,
adding the dam’s electric power plant and transmission line
would be a constantly growing enterprise whose initial cost
would be less with the road, He said the dam would attract
tourists and the lake behind it would provide fishing,
boating, and other vacation opportunities. He said the road



would be-a good one, permanent in nature, and would be
built for the money asked. 4

On April 11, while Phoenix voters were approving the
bonds 686 to 38, ¢! Davis met with the governors and told
them the extended drought in the country wasan uniocoked
for condition and if it continued could affect the number of
acres for which association shares could be issued. He said
the policy of limiting the number of shares within the
number of acres that could be safely irrigated would be
adhered to rigidly. The Interior Department now estimated
200,000 acres could be irrigated, 160,000 acres from the
natural flow of the river and impounded water, and 35,000 to
40,000 acres from the underground supply. The estimated
cost of the project was $3,600,000, or a cost of $18 peracreif
200,000 acres were included in the reservoir district, If the
drought continued and the estimated acreage was reduced to
180,000, the cost would be $20 per acre, and if, 150,000, it
would be $24 per acre. 4

Davis said, however, it was doubtful any such reduction
would be necessary. “It is only mentioned to show the most
extreme conditions possible,” he said. ¢

The governors ordered a letter to be sent to sharcholders
urging them to vote in the election to ratify the contract with
the government. The governors said a large vote would
“show the government our appreciation of what they are
doing for us.” Sharcholders were warned theycould not vote
if they had failed to pay the previously levied assessment of
10 cents per acre, %

In addition, a pamphlet containing a draft of the
proposed contract and a copy of Hitcheock’s letter of
February 25, 1904, to the director of the U.S. Geological
Survey, was distributed to shareholders, 4

On April 30, property tax payersin Tempe approved their
portion of the Roosevelt road bonds 54 to 10, % but it also
was learned the government would be unable to continue
building the road until the bonds were sold and the money
became available. Hill and Davis at first had said approval
of the bonds would be sufficient to continue building, but
they now said they needed the money. Fearing the red tape
involved in selling the bonds could take up to two months,
delaying construction of the road by that much, the Phoenix

Two views of government sawmill in the Sierra Ancha Mountains.

Enterprise said “some . od must be devised to raise some
money prior to that time.” ¥

Hill, discussing the work in the Tonto Basin, said it had
been decided to construct the dam’s sluicing tunnel on the
south side instead of the north side of the river, and the work
of excavating the tunnel’s approaches was in progress. He
said there would be 8,700 feet of tunnels along the route of
the power canal, and this work was in progress, too,

The telephone line, constructed on high ground 50'it
would not be flooded when the reservoir filled, was
completed from the site of the power canal diversion dam
about six miles upstream from Livingston, to the Arizona
Dam where it connected to Phoenix over the line of the
Arizona Water Co. Hill spoke over the line from Livingston
to Phoenix April 17. %

However, the telephone service was unsatisfactory for
two reasons. First, the end of the line in Phoenix wasin the
office of the Arizona Water Co., % and second, the line
between the Arizona Dam and the water company office ran
along the ground. 3! Asa result, the Reclamation Service in
late December 1904, began construction of itsown linefrom
the Arizona Dam. Thisline, with poles set 35 tothe mile, was
27 miles long and connected with the Reclamation Service
office and the Consolidated Telephone, Telegraph and
Electric Co. in Phoenix. Wooden poles were used inside the
city and iron poles outside, The Arizona Water Co. was
allowed to place its own new line on the poles. The
government line was completed in February 1905, Later that
year, a branch line was run to Mesa off the Phoenix-Arizona
Dam connection. 5

In the last week of April, a measles epidemic broke outin
Livingston. 5% At Roosevelt, construction of new buildings
contintied,  while at the cement mill the building began
going up. Contractors for the power canal also got underway
with the excavation and tunneling. 5 Also, construction was
soon to begin ona second and larger temporary steam power
plant, which was to be a few hundred feet from the site. 5

The High Line road to Globe was completed, 5 and W, B.
Lewis, operator of the stagecoach line from Globe to
Roosevelt, increased service from three times a week to
daily. 8
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Meantime, government employees began traveling over
the route of the uncompleted Roosevelt road to reach the
dam site. The Bowen & Grover stage line carried the first
government passengers in wagons from Mesa to Mormon
Flat, where the travelers switched to mules for the remainder
of the journey. ¥ Other men seeking employment walked or
rode horseback to the Tonto Basin.

Bowen & Grover began construction of a road house at
Mormon Flat, ¢! Other stage stations were being established
along the road at Goldfield, at Weekes Ranch a mile east of
Goldfield, ¢ and at Fish Creek. ®

Freighting outfits also began departing from Phoenix for
the dam site. &

On May 6, Fowler left for Denver where he met with
Davis and Hill to ask if there was some way the government
could advance the money for the Roosevelt road. They told
him no. Before Fowler began the return trip, he sent a
telegram to Vernon L. Clark, putting in motion a previously
agreed upon alternative plan to raise between $20,000 and
$25,000, the amount Davis and Hill indicated would be
needed to keep the road work poing until the bonds were
sold. The local banks agreed to put up the money by
accepting the personal notes of financially solid men, uptoa
maximum of $300 apiece. Mayor Bennett of Phoenix
assured the banks the City Council would repay the fundsas
soon as the cash for the bonds was received. A meeting was
called the night of May 17 at the Board of Trade ¢ where the
plan was explained, Dr, Alexander J. Chandler of Mesa said
the same proposal had worked in his city. Chandler said 10
men were asked to sign notes but 20 responded. The Board
of Trade agreed to the plan, assigning Fowler, Frank Alkire,
and Walter Talbot to carry it out. By the time the meeting
ended, they had 52 names. ¢ Five days later, the committee
had 148 notes, €

The night of May 23, the Phoenix city council sold its
bonds to a Denver company for a total of $69,750. ¢ A week
later, Hill was notified $20,000 secured by notes was in the
bank at Phoenix, and checks drawn against the city of
Phoenix for the road construction would be approved, Hill
reported 150 men were at work at the Roosevelt end of the
road and 150 would be put to work at Fish Creek Canyon. &
By mid-June, almost 400 men were at work on the road. ™

On May 10, shareholders in the Water Users’ Asscciation
gave their approval of the coatract for the dam. The vote was
24,602 to 240, It was said the 240 votes were cast by two men
in the Jower end of the Valley who may not have fully
understood how to mark the ballot. Based on the vote, the
governors adopted a resolution authorizing the association
president and secretary to enter into a contract with the
government, 7!

On May 28, the Council acted upon the petitions from the
landowners under the Salt River Valley, Maricopa, and
Grand canals and approved the formation of three canal
districts, 72

The Water Users’ Association office was moved to the
post office building on May 31, 2

Frederick Newell arrived at Globe June 4. He met Fowler
there, and they traveled together to the Reclamation Service
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headquarters camp at L.vingston. With Hill, they spent the
next few days visiting the sawmill in the Sierra Anchasand
touring the other work. On Wednesday afternoon, June 8,
they started for Phoenix, camping at Fish Creek overnight.
They arrived in Mesa Thursday night. They reached
Phoenix about noon June 10, and that afternoon Newell met
with the Maricopa County Board of Supervisors to
encourage it to put the road between Mesa and Goldfield
into good shape for heavy hauling. ™ The supervisors had
been warned that if the road was not readied for heavy
hauling, machinery might have to be sent via Globe, Davis
had suggested $5,000 for the work, but the supervisors said
they did not have the money. * They later agreed to fix the
eight miles between Mesa and the point where the road
entered Pinal County. They said they had no jurisdiction
beyond that point. 76

The greatest obstacle to all of the road work at that time
was the drought. The problem was getting water to the
workers. Hill said the white men could not work far
distances from water, He said Indians would work in those
locales. He said the Indians, who also worked for cheaper
wages, would walk four miles for water. He said it would
require about 12 barrels of water each day at the camps,
which was too costly and would wear out the horses needed
to pack it in, 77

At the Tonto Basin, a force of men drilled holes in the
riverbed searching for bedrock on the line of the dam. When
finished there, they intended to drill for bedrock in the Salt
River upstream at the site of the power canal diversion
dam. 7

In Roosevelt, two large boilers and the engine for the new
steam power plant were in place and a brick building to
house them was going up. This was the first brick building,
and it was made with bricks produced at Roosevelt. ™
Construction also was in progress for an ice plantand foran
office building for the Reclamation Service,

Dust was held down on the streets of Roosevelt by means
of a large sprinkling wagon, ¥ Druggist Warren Barnett
served ice cream sodas from his soda fountain for 25 cents,
and Saturday night dances were held at a new dance hall
erected by restaurant owner Richard Baker. 8 The tents in
which the workers lived were moved higher up the hill, 8

Signs of oil were found in the Tonto Basin, and the smel}
of it was detected in the stuicing tunnel. Hill said the
indications of oil were not sufficient to justify the expense of
bringing in a heavy drilling rig to explore for it. 8

Construction of the sluicing tunnel was progressing from
both ends, and by the end of June, 230 feet had been
tunneled. About 4,000 feet of tunnel work on the power
canal was completed and ready for concrete lining, but
excavation work was hampered by a shortage of men. #

Hot springs near Roosevelt were being used by some
persons to bathe, and some used the warm water to do their
laundry. ¥

On June 19, the governors, acting upon the
recommendation of landowners under the three canal
divisions that had been created, named three commissioners
for each. Maricopa Canal landowners split on who they
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wanted for commissioners, and petitions nominating two
groups were offered. The governors selected the men with
the greatest number of signatures, Dwight B. Heard, C. C.
Hurley, and Henry Ware. ¥

The governors also granted a month’s leave of absence to
Fowler, who had been asked by Newell to join him in
inspecting irrigation projects in Colorado and Idaho.
Fowler was instructed to deliver the signed contract to
Newell. Fowler also was authorized to go to Washington if
necessary to explain details and make an early plea for
signing by the government. ¥

late in June, commissioners from the three canal
divisions urged water users under the Arizona Canal to
create another division and to select commissioners. One
purpose in asking the Arizona Canal landowners to do this
was so water users under the four canals could unite their
efforts to acquire the canals from the Arizona Water Co. %0

On July §, the governors passed a resolution authorizing
Kibbey to file the lawsuit that would determine the priority
of water rights in the Valley. The governors did this in the
following language:

That the attorney of the association, Judge Kibbey, be
authorized and instructed to institute a comprehensive suit to
determine the relative rights of all persons using or diverting water
from the flow of the Salt and Verde rivers for the purposes of
irrigation, mining and manufacturing, to use and to divert water Jor
the purposes aforesaid, at such time and in such manner as to him
may seem wise and expedient, and to that end to take any and ali
steps which may to him seem expedient or necessary to speedily
settle and determine the present vested rights to the use of water for
said purposes, from the flow of the Salt and Verde rivers and their

tributaries. ¥

The Arizona Gazette reported Kibbey would select one of
the water users with the oldest claims to become the plaintiff
in the suit, and all others would be defendants. These
defendants were to include users upstream on the Verdeand

Salt rivers who diverted water claimed by Valley farmers, %

A few days later, the U.S. Department of Justice filed suit
to close a saloon operated by Charles W. Williams near the
mouth of Pinto Creek and the Salt River. The suit alleged
the saloon was greatly interfering with construction
operations. 9 Hill said that while the saloon and gambling
house were three or four miles from the nearest contractor’s
camp and a dozen miles from the dam site, teamsters and
others from the camps patronized the business. He said the
camps were usually quiet, except when the men returned
drunk from the saloon. A man had been sentto ask Williams
to close, but he refused, saying he had been there before the
land was withdrawn for the Tonto Basin reservoir. * But the
saloon was on government land and an injunction closing it
was granted. %

Rain, the first in nine months, fell in the Valley and over
some of the watershed July 21. At midday, 750 cubic feet per
second was measured at the Arizona Dam, which was 10
times more than the water flowing in the river the day before.
However, the flow fell to 500 cubic feet per second by
evening. %

The night of July 22, heavy showers fell over parts of the
Tonto Basin, and the government camp at Livingston was
flooded by two feet of water coming from Pinto Creek. The
creek itself ran five-feet deep and a quarter-mile wide. %7

The morning of July 23, water ran two-feet deep over the
Arizona Dam. The Arizona Canal was supposed to carry a
maximum of 750 cubic feet per second diverted by the dam.
This left about 7,000 cubic feet per second going over the
dam. Before dark, the water made the Salt River unfordable
at Tempe. %

However, very little of the water reached the parched
land, and the north side farmers met July 26 to talk about it.
Before the meeting, County Supervisor John P. Orme and
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others went to the office of the Arizona Water Co. to ask
about what happened to the water. The conversation
between Orme and Willlam B. Cleary, general manager of
the company, became heated, and Cleary punched Orme in
the face. The Republican reported,

The blow was not a heavy one and was not intended to do any
bodily damage, but it did no moral good. It aroused a great deal of
inflammation and was the principal topic of conversation on the
street during the forenoon. Later in the day a party of water users
again visited the canal office and the subject was further talked
over. Mr, Cleary expressed regret at the occurrence and offered to
apologize to Mr., Orme for his hasty and violent action. The
apology was readily accepted and the gentlemen shook hands. ¥

The farmers met again July 27. This time they drew up
petitions that were presented to Cleary. The petitions, which
were signed by the commissioners appointed for the
Maricopa, Grand, and Salt River Valley canals and by a
committee appointed for the Arizona Canal, said the canals
were “largely filled with sand, silt, debris, weeds and brush”
and could not carry the water for which the farmers had
paid. The petition concerning the Grand Canal pointed out
that it was “without any head or diversion dam.” The
farmers demanded the conditions,

be remedied at once and that you inform us immediately whether
you will comply with this demand, 19

Cleary accepted the petitions and said they would be
referred to the directors of each canal company. He said he
would let the farmers know as expeditiously as possible what
would be done. 0!

That morning, water again began going over the Arizona
Dam. It reached a depth of two and one-half feet before
dropping to two feet and continued at that depth until late
afternoon. This put a good head of water in the canals. 102

Word came from Livingston that Charles R. Olberg, one
of the government engineers, and Dr, Ralph F. Pahmer, the
government physician, had come down with typhoid. 103

Palmer, in an autobiography, Doctor on Horseback, said
Dr. Richard D. Kennedy of the Old Dominion Mine
Hospital at Globe was called to the camp and gave Palmer
the same treatment the latter had devised for other patients:

This was to put the patient in a canvas tarp with several inches of
water in it and a cake of ice at the head and foot, Then four to six
men would hold the sides and ends up and swish the cold water
around by rolling the patient in the canvas. It was & very effective
treatment from a fever standpoint but as my 105 degree
temperature began to respond I sure wanted to beg off. Anyway,
there is an end to all things and all the typhoid cases recavered, 1

Another heavy rain fell in the Tonto Basin July 26. Pinto
Creek rose three feet while a rise of eight and one-half feet
was measured that night at the Tonto dam site, The high
water swamped part of the road between there and Fish
Creek Hill and swept away supplies at one of the road
camps, 10

Hill reported the specifications for the dam were nearing
completion, but it would take some time yet for the detailed
drawings to be finished. ! He said drawings and
specifications for the regulating gates in the siuicing tunnel
were almost ready. 107

A daily mail service was started August 1 between Globe,
Livingston, and Roosevelt, 102
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In Phoenix, the farmers representing the various north
side canals met. Besides talking about canal conditions, they
named Heard as chairman. Heard, in turn, 2appointed Orme
to act in his place while Heard spent a month vacationing in
California, 109

Another result of the farmers’ meetings was the
incorporation, August 6, of the Appropriators’ Caznal Co.
The purpose of the incorporators, Orme, Patrick T. Hurley,
Thomas Armstrong Jr., W. H. Wilkey, and Lincoln Fowler,
was to reestablish the head of the Grand Canalto capture the
water that came over the Arizona Dam and to use it to
irrigate lands under the Grand, Maricopa, and Salt River
Valley canals. Part of the contention was that the Arizona
Canal was big enough only to keep itself and one other of the
canals filled at the same time. Reopening the head of the
Grand Canal was expected to make it possible to keep all
four north side canals full. Men and horses were sent to
begin the work, 10 :

The Grand Canal at that time received its water through
the Crosscut Candl that dropped south from the Arizona
Canal along the line of today’s 48th Street in Phoenix. The
farmers said the Grand Canal could carry more water than
was being delivered through the Crosscut. Cleary, when
questioned about what was happening, said so far as he
knew there was no objection to the Appropriators’ Canal, !

The capital stock of the company was $50,000, and
landowners under the three canals the Appropriators®
intended to serve were asked to buy stock, Each share of
stock represented an acre of ground and a propostionate
amount of the additional water that was to be brought
through the canal. !2

At 8 p.m. Sunday, August 7, Munc Price of Reedsville,
North Carolina, a rodman on one of the Reclamation
Service survey crews, died of typhoid fever in the hospital at
Roosevelt, 11 Price’s death was the first among the men
associated with the Tonto Basin project.

The same day Price died, the Salt River at Roosevelt rose
about two feet higher than it had from the storms two weeks
earlier. The high water was.caused by rains that fell in the

- Sierra Anchas. The water carried a couple of inches of mud

into the sluicing tunnel, 4

By then, the larger steam power plant was operating day
and night supplying electricity for a steam hoist at the
cement mill and for other machinery plus the ice plant, the
machine shop, and carpenter shop. 15 The ice plant was
soon producing two tons of ice each day. 6

On August 11, Secretary of the Interior Ethan A,
Hitchcock signed the contract with the Water Users’
Association for construction of the dam, 117

A few days later, lawsuits were brought against the
Grand, Maricopa, and the Salt River Valley canal
companies by about 50 farmers. The suits complained the
companies had failed to perform their duties as common
carriers with the result the plaintiffs’ “trees and vines are
already destroyed and their fields of alfalfa reduced in extent
and productiveness.” The suits asked that if the companies
failed to make adequate repairs or did not stop allowing
other companies from appropriating water that was



rightfully theirs, that the companiw. be placed in
receivership. One of the attorneys for the farmers was
Thomas Armstrong Jr., one of the incorporators of the
Appropriators’ canal, !'®

Rains fell all night in the Tonto Basin August 15 filling the
intake tunnel for the power canal with five fect of water and
mud. Water got into several of the other tunnels, but they
were drained and damage was light. 1

By the end of August, six camps had been established for
men working on the Roosevelt road. ¥

The digging of the sluicing tunnel was completed. The
tunnel excavations from both ends were within a quarter-
inch of the engineers’ lines when they met. 1! The tunnel was
13-feet wide, 11-feet high, and 480-fect long. Besides sluicing
the reservoir, the tunnel was intended to divert the river
around the dam while it was being built. When the reservoir
was full, it was expected that 10,000 cubic feet of water per
second could be discharged through the tunnel. 122

Construction of the sluicing tunnel,

presented many great difficulties; a vise in the river of two feet
would flood bath portals, together with their long approaches, with
mud and river debris, which could only be removed by men
tramming it out in practically water tight cars. This occurred not
less than three times during the progress of the work. Another bad
Jfeature was the intense heat. Several kot springs were encountered
and the temperature rose to 130 degrees Fahrenheit. This water
emitted a steam-like vapor which was almost suffocating. The men

worked stripped to the waist, coming out at short intervals for a
breath of air.

Machine drills driven by compressed air were used in the
construction, . . On account of the isclated situation of the work, it
was difficult to get experienced drillers. The common laborers were
largely Mexicans and Apache Indians, '

Excavation of the power canal tunnels was nearly done,
and the work of lining them with concrete continued. 4 The
Reclamation Service employed a new contractor to operate
the sawmill, and about 8,000 feet of lumber were cut daily.
About 5,000 feet of lumber were used in the power canal
tunnels, and the remainder were used in the work at
Roosevelt and at the dam site, 125

Hill passed through Phoenix on September 16 on his way
to Denver for the opening of the bids for the sluicing tunnel
gates. He reported the cement mill building was completed,
and the foundations were in for the manufacturing
machinery. By October 1, he expected it would be possible to
drive a team of horses from one end of the Rooseveltroad to
the other. The road was almost finished except to the top of
Fish Creek Hill and bridges over Lewis and Pranty, Fish,
and Ash creeks. 126 The Fish Creek Hill work was some of
the most difficult and expensive to be done.

The road climbs the hill going towards Mesa on a 10 percent
grade, for the most part along the foot of a vertical cliff several
kundred feet high, the cliff being so steep as to necessitate rock fills
75 feet in height in order to get the required width of roadway. In
other places, rock cuis 60 to 70 feet in depth were necessary. Some
shart sections of this road were very expensive to construct, the cost
probably reaching $25,000 or mare per mile. 17

On September 17, Republicans held their territorial
convention in Prescott, and Fowler was selected as the
party’s nominee for delegate to Congress. Fowler’s name
was placed in nomination by Kibbey, who also introduced a

successful resolution | 1ging the support of Fowler and the
GOP to the construction of the San Carlos dam and other
favorable irrigation projects. 128 The Democrats, two days
earlier, approved a plank urging the building of the San
Carlos dam. They nominated Marcus A. Smith for
delegate, 127

The Post Office Department advertised for bids for a mail
route between Mesa and Roosevelt, 1*0 and Sheldon S.
Baker, a chemist for the Geological Survey, reported that 90
percent of the salt found in the Salt River was caused by the
flow of water over large salt deposits in Carrizo Creek.
Cibecue Creek contributed about 5 percent of the salt found
in the river. 13

A court hearing was held September 28 by Judge Edward
Kent on the request that the Salt River Valley, Maricopa,
and Grand canal companies be placed in receivership, Kent
indicated the farmers were asking for too much, but he said
he would consider their plea that the companies be required
to repair and improve the canals, dam, and headgates, t32

October opened with Kent’s denying all of the farmers’
pleas by dismissing the cases. 1

George H. Maxwell, executive director of the National
Irrigation Association, came to Phoenix to campaign on
behalf of Fowler's candidacy. Before a filled Dorris theater
the night of October 14, Maxwell extolled Fowler and
defended the national irrigation movement’s financial
backing by the railroads. He also denied he had gained
financially. Before becoming involved in the irrigation
movement, his income as a lawyer had ranged between
$10,000 and $26,000 per year, he said. Moreover, he had
contributed $10,000 to the movement, getting the money by
mortgaging property. Maxwell said he had repaid $1,000 of
that and was paying 8 percent interest on the balance, 134
While in Phoenix, he arranged the sale of his ranch for
$15,000. 135

About 11 2.m. Tuesday, October 18, Robert Schell was
fatally injured while doing some blasting on the Roosevelt
road about 15 miles from the dam site. He put ina dynamite
charge and either made the fuse too short or miscalculated
the time needed to get away. Schell caught the full effect of
the blast, His right arm wasaimost entirely blown away,and
the concussion threw him at least 30 feet. He landed on his
back on a rock. Schell, described as “rather an old man,”
died about 9 o’clock that night before a doctor summoned
from Mesa could reach him. 136

The general election was held November 8, and Fowler
lost to Smith by 872 votes—-9,522 to 10,394, 137

On November 14, the contract for three pair of gatesto be
installed in the sluicing tunnel was let to the Lleweilyn Iron
Works of Los Angeles for $102,000. 38 The government
took over operation of the sawmill, while work had fallena
fittle behind on the power canal because of the inability to
get enough workers during the hot weather, The power canal
contractors were urged to hire additional men so there
would be no delay in its completion, 13

In Washington, the Interior Department on November 23
announced bids would be received at the Reclamation
Service office in Phoenix until 9 a.m. February g, 1903,
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fof the construction of a masonry dam and two bridges on Salt
River, about 70 miles east of Phoenix, Ariz, The dam will contain
about 300,000 cubic yards of masonry. Specifications, form of
proposal, and plans may be inspected at the office of the chief
engineer of the Reclamation Service, Washington, D.C., or at the
office of the district engineer of the Reclumation Service,
Roosevell, Ariz. . . Proposals must be marked: “Proposal for the
construction of the Roosevell dam, Salt River, Arizona," 14

The last of the machinery for use in the cement mill was
delivered in November. The machinery had been expected
carlier, but delays occurred because the contractors were
slow in making shipment and because {reighters to haul it
from Globe to Roosevelt were scarce, #1

By the end of November, the Roosevelt road was in good
enocugh shape to warrant the beginning of a movement in
Mesa for its use as a bicycle trail. The Mesa people were
especially concerned with the condition of the road from
Mesa to Goldfield. This was the old road. It was soft and
they were afraid it would soon be cut up by heavy traffic.
They wanted the road made smooth so that each time a
wheel passed over the road it would be packed down and
hardened, M2

John Holdren, who won the contract to deliver mail
between Mesa and Roosevelt, bought a couple of heavy
carriages to carry the mail, 43 The mail service began
December 5, 144 :

It was announced from Livingston that the Reclamation
Service would soon open bids for delivering 50,000 barrels of
oil from Mesa to the cement mill at Roosevelt. Tanks with
capacities of 1,000 barrels were to be built at Mesa for
handling the oil. 45 A tank with a 2,000 barrel capacity was
built near the cement mill. 46 The government hoped to
begin the manufacture of cement by February 1, 1905, 147

In early December, only the bridge across Ash Creek was
not in place on the Roosevelt road. Hill reported people were
managing to get around the creek, but it would take a couple
of weeks to take care of some of the rough spots along the
road. Thereafter, he said, a crew would be kept busy
repairing the road where it settled and where rocks fell onit.
The stage carrying the mail and passengers made the trip
from Mesa to Roosevelt in one day with three changes of
horses, 148 B

‘The governors met December 5 and adopted a resolution
that the contracts of landowners who applied for stock in the
association and failed to pay the preliminary assessment of
10 cents per acre by January 15, 1905, be returned to such
persons as having been rejected. The resolution did “not
apply to school lands or lands on the waiting list” hoping to
get into the association. Frank H. Parker, association
secretary, said payment had been made on 150,000 acresand
about 45,000 acres were delinquent. The association needed
the money to operate, 149

Early the morning of December 9, two Indian children
burned to death at an Indian camp near the work on the
power canal. The children made a fire of dried brush and fell
asleep nearby, Somehow, their clothing caught fire. The
children were about 7 years old, 150

Orville H. Ensign, electrical engineer for the Reclamation
Service, was aboard the stage Friday, December 16, when it
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made the trip from Roosevelt to Mesa ineleven and one-half
hours. Ensign said the only break in the ride was at Ash
Creek, which the passengers had to walk over, He said the
bridge was expected to be completed by the next Tuesday.
The worst part of the road was from Goldfield to Mesa, but
workmen had started to change some of the grades and to
harden it. Ensign said the horses trotted most of the way,
upgrade as well as downhill, 13!

Christmas was celebrated at Roosevelt with a Christmas
tree and Christmas eve dancing plus a children’s program
held in the school house, 152

Because a portion of the Roosevelt road ran along the
river past the dam site and was subject to flooding,
construction started in January 1905 on a new road at a
higher elevation from the cement mill to pass overa hill and
connect with the Roosevelt road. 153 The part of the road
immediately downstream from the dam was built high on the
mountain to avoid the south side spillway. There, and
farther down the canyon, rock cuts of from 20 feet to 60 feet
were made. To protect the workers, life lines were used in
many instances. '

Workmen also began blasting away the mountain to
prepare a shelf for the temporary and permanent power
plants. Originally, the engineers had planned to put the
temporary hydroelectric power plant inside the reservoirata
point 80 feet above the low flow of the river. Various
objections to this led to a new plan to locate the temporary
plant on the site of the permanent powerhouse, immediately
below the dam. Hence, much of the work for the temporary
plant was later used in the permanent powerhouse. 155

The shelf on which the permanent powerhouse was to rise
was 25 feet above the river channel, but the temporary plant
went into a recess 10 feet higher up, hollowed out of the
mountainside. This was done to protect the temporary
installation from possible flooding and from damage by
falling rocks during future blasting, 136

The temporary power plant was to be connected with the
power canal by means of a tunnel 500-feet long. The tunnel
was to be lined with a 7-foot diameter steel pipe set in .

~ concrete, 157 '

Another work in progress was the excavation inside the
sluicing tunnei of the chamber in which two sets of three
identical gates were to be installed, the first set of service
pates to control the release of waterand the other set to serve
as emergency gates should repairs be necessary. The
excavation was about 120 feet inside the tunnel from the
upstream portal. The service gates would be set in the
downstream end of the chamber and the emergency gates 10
feet farther upstream. 158

On Thursday, January 5, 1905, the Reclamation Service
opened bids in Phoenix {or the purchase and delivery of
50,000 barrels of oil to Roosevelt and for the hauling of
freight, The oil bids took into consideration the railroad
freight rates from the California oil fields to Mesa and Globe
and the hauling of oil from those two points to Roosevelt.
Three bids were entered that included the cost of the oil and
its delivery, the lowest being $3.48 per barrel by C. R, Eager
& Co. of Los Angeles, and the highest $4.49, Seven bids were



inade-for hauling freight, the lowest being 213.60 per ton by
Wolf Sachs of Tempe, and the highest $i8.50. 1% The
contracts were later awarded to Eager Co. 190 and Sachs. 1!

The Gazette reported January 6 the Reclamation Service
had “under consideration the designing of an ideal
distributing canal system for the entire Salt River valley”
based upon the cadastral survey of the Valley made by
government engineers. The newspaper called this,

a piece of good news to the peaple of the valley. For while we
have always been looking forward to the bigdam as something that
would put new life and vigor into our section, yet we had not
considered anything with reference to the method which would be
used by the government in distributing the water from thedam. ..

This ideal canal system is something that few had thought af
befare. 162

Apparently it was unknown to the Gazefle editors that
Charies D. Walcott, director of the U.S. Geological Survey,
had described the “ideal irrigation system for the Sait River
valley” in a report April 10, 1903, to the Interjor secretary.
This system called for a permanent diversion dam and one
large main canal on each side of the river by which to convey
water to laterals for distribution to the land. This system
contemplated the selection of a water commissioner by the
scttlers for each canal, subject to approval by the
government engineer in charge. Once the majority of
payments had been made to the government for the cost of
building the reservoir, the water users were expected to take
control of the distribution system, subject to rules and
regulations established by the Interior secretary. 163

The Republican, on January 7, echoed the Gazetie report
of the previous day, the Republican adding “an ideal
distributing canal system. . Js a part of the work of
reclamation in the valley which was not generally
contemplated in the beginning.” 164 '

In Jater years, the things “not generally contemplated in
the beginning” became a sore point with many of the
shareholders in the Water Users’ Association because they
had to pay for the work, As the cost of the project rose from
the initial projection of about $15 per acre toward 330, 855
and $60 per acre, some of the farmers became bitter and
resentful,

Heavy rains and snow began falling over the watershed of
the Salt and Verde rivers the night of January 7. Withina few
days, the area of the Tonto Basin, from the power canal
diversion dam to the Roosevelt dam site, was covered with
water. The washes and creeks ran with torrents, and most of
the roads became impassable. The river at Roosevelt rose 16
feet above its usual level, Before the storm passed, almost 6
inches of rain fell, and the Sierra Anchas were covered with
snow, 169

Rain started falling over the Salt River Valley the
morning of January 9. 16 The morning of January 10, 2
report came in from the Arizona Dam that two feet of water
was flowing over. By that night it was three feet, and the
water continued to rise so that by the night of January 11§
was more than four-feet deep. 17 .

The high water in the river gave the operators of the
Appropriators’ Canal a chance to try out the newly installed
headgates. A flow estimated at more than 123 cubic feet of

water per second ran . .o the canal for a distance of six or
seven miles before being diverted back into the river through
a waste way. 168

At a session of the Arizona Supreme Court January 13, it
was announced the U.S. Supreme Court had upheld the
lower courts in the case of Henry E. Slosser v. the Salt River
Canal Co. brought in 1895, The lower courts held that
Slosser had a right to water for his land even though he was
not a shareholder in the canal companyand had not rented 4
water right from a stockholder, 169

A reporter for the Republican wrote an account of a trip
over the Roosevelt road, saying “It is the wagon road of
America” with nothing like it elsewhere in the U.S, He
reported it had been opened for freight a few days earlier,
and the teamsters were disturbed by rumors automobiles
were going to use it. The freighters said there were hundreds
of sharp curves from which a driver could not see 30 feet
ahead, and, if automobiles were met at such points, the
horses would scare and plunge over the bluffs. Their own
lives would be endangered, and they predicted problems if
automobiles tried to use the road, 17

The writer said the roadbed, beyond Goldfield, was made
of disintegrated granite and tuff, a volcanic rock. The
wooden bridges, constructed from lumber cut in the Sierra
Anchas, were substantial, and there were few heavy grades.
He said “the road is as smooth as Washington street” and
would be ideal for bicycles except for the grades. However,
the road needed widening at the curves so freight teams
could pass. 17! '

Teams were encounted on every mile, and stations for
tourists had been established and were being improved. The
scenery was “indescribably beautiful and grand,” with the
“stupendous canyon of Fish Creek. . .a repetition of the
Grand Canyon on a minor scale.” For miles, the road
followed a “shelf in the cliffs, from which a stone can be
tossed hundreds of feet below. It skirts palisades which are
more magnificient than the famed palisades of the
Hudson.” 172

On January 16, Kibbeyfiled in the U.8. District Court the
lawsuit of Patrick T. Hurley v. Charles F. Abbott and
others. This was the suit to determine the orderin which land
in the Valley was to receive water from the rivér. In reporting
the filing of the suit, the Republican said in the “complaint
there are sixty folios of names containing altogether more
than 5,000.” All the water users in the Valley and along the
upper Verde River were made defendants. 17

The complaint said Hurley owned the southeast quarter
of section 14, township 1 north, range 2 east (Lower Buckeye
road to Durango, between 27th and 31st avenues), and his
right to appropriate 120 miners’ inches of water annually to
irrigate the 160 acres dated from as early as 1870. The water
claim of 120 inches was for more than 2,100 acre-feet per
year, Hurley asked his water appropriation be secured to
him against encroachments from all other water users. 174

Among the new arrivals at Roosevelt was Chester W.
Smith of Connecticut, who was to take charge of the dam
construction when it started. A dance was held in the new
government dining room, 7S which was located on the
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mountainside above the High Line .o0ad near a group of
permanent houses for Reclamation Service officials. These
houses were occupied by, among others, Hill, Palmer,
Duryea, and their families. |7 Storekeepers in Roosevelt
were pleased by business, and the town with its “good many
restaurants and lodging houses. . .springing up. . .is
taking on quite a metrapolitan air.” "7 The town lots were
leased “for business purposes at no rental but under
restriction as to conduct, especially in regard to liquor,
which was prohibited within a three-mile lirnit over the
entire project.” 178
The new building at Roosevelt to house the Reclamation
Service offices was nearing completion, with part of the
government staff there and the rest at Livingston, 17 About
20 families were camped at Livingston or nearby. ' Tents
were pitched on three sides of the ranch house, which once
was headquarters for the H. Z. ranch, The building was
whitewashed, as were all the trees and fence poles. The entire
office force assisted in the raising of a 50-foot flagpole,
brought in from the Sierra Anchas Januvary 31, A flag was
run up and lowered at sunset, with Frank Nash, a one-time
government scout in the Apache wars, sounding retreat, 18!
A number of water users under the Grand, Maricopa, and
Salt River Valley canals metand decided to have asingle law
firm represent them in Hurley v. Abbott, in order to reduce
the expense of answering and being represented. They
drafted aletter to be sent to others similarly situated, inviting
them to join, 12 :
Water users served by the Arizona Canal met under the
auspices of the Arizona Canal Water Users’ Protective
Association. Kibbey explained the purpose of the Hurley
suit. While the water users agreed with the object of the suit,
many of them thought there might be a simpler and less
expensive way to achieve the same thing. Some suggested a
cooperative agreement using the Kibbey Decree of 1892 as
the basis for a settlement. The association appointed a
committee of 10 men to study the effect of the lawsuit, 183
Heavy rain fell again in early February, and by Saturday,
February 4, the country was awash in water, The floodplain
of Cave Creek, which entered the Valley northwest of

Phoenix, was filled with water, and the Republican
reported:

There had never been so much water within the limits of Phoenix
since the flood of 1891. All of the city west of the east line of the
capitol grounds was submerged or surrounded. Nothing could be
seen of the grounds but the trees and shrubbery, and the water at its
highest point was beginning to creep under the doors of the capitol
building. . . A great section of the Maricopa canal went out and the
water poured through without ohstruction, %4

The Salt River at Tempe reached a point higher than at any time
since 1891, which meant water was pouring over the Arizona
Dam. %5 On February 6, the water coming over the dam ranged
between six- and seven-feet deep, 1%

Hill arrived in Phoenix from the dam site on Tuesday,
February 7. He said the worst problem at Roosevelt was the
road at the dam site, which had been covered by water 15-
feet deep but was at a depth of six or eight feet when he had
left. *%7 He had come to Phoenix for the opening of the bids
for the dam, but this was postponed unti! February 23
because the arrival of some of the Reclamation Service
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consulting engine. . had been delayed by the weather. 18
The bidders, about 20 in number, met with Hill at the
appointed hour. They handed over their bids, then he read to
them the official notice of postponement, and returned the
bids unopened. The contractors protested the length of the
delay and senta telegram to Secretary Hitchcock contending
that the engineers would arrive in two or three days. They
asked for an earlier date for the bid opening. They wanted to
avoid the expense of remaining in Phoenix or of going home
and returning, '% but Hitchcock, the next day, replied the
new day having been announced, it would be impracticable
to order an earlier opening, 190

Hill, on February 8, did open bids for the delivery of
wood to the dam site. The wood was to be burned at the
cement mill. J, E. Sturgeon of Tempe offered the lower of
two bids, $4.35 per cord for 100 cords of cottonwood and
$5.60 per cord for 500 cords of mesqguite wood. Sturgeon
already was furnishing the government camps with a large
part of their meat supply, and he had other interests in the
Tonto Basin, 19!

. On February 10, President Theodore Roosevelt sent the
name of Joseph H. Kibbey, attorney general of Arizona, to
the U.S. Senate to succeed Alexander O, Brodie as
governor. 12 Roosevelt earlier had named Brodie assistant
chief of the Records and Pension Bureau of the U.S, Army,
an appointment that had been confirmed in January by the
U.S. Senate, 19

Arizona Canal water users met February 11 to consider
the findings of the committee appointed to recommend how
to react to Hurley v. Abbott, The committee majority
advised joining with the water users under the other canals in
encouraging the suit and making an early answerto it, buta
motion to adopt.the recommendation failed by a 3 to 1
margin. Among those opposed to the majority was William
J. Murphy, the owner of more land under the canal than
probably anyone else. The majority of the water users
favored taking no action except to urge the withdrawal of
the suit and to accept whatever summons was made upon
them, 194

Thomas Armstrong Jr. filed an answer to Hurley on -
February 13, He asked that Hurley be required to prove his
claim. Armstrong also said he was the owner of two tracts of
fand the water appropriations for which were made in 1869,
He said he was entitled to a constant flow of 33/80 of an inch
or one-half inch of water for each acre. He asked the court to
establish his right to that volume of water and to restrain
Hurley or anyone else from taking it. 195

Long-time residents of the Tonto Basin said it had been
many yvears since they had seen so much water in the Salt
River. Stages and freight were delayed, and teams could not
get across the river to bring in lumber from the Sierra
Anchas. An effort to start a ferry at Griffin's Ford, over
which all the wood was carried, failed because the cable used
was too weak. 19 Stronger cable was procured, and in
another week a ferry was runaing to carry provisions across
the river for the men at the sawmill. 197

Teamsters continued to have difficuity getting freight
from Globe ¢to Roosevelt and Livingston. In some places, the



road was described as having no bottom. The Roosevelt
road continued to be covered by water in the vicinity of the
dam,. 198

Hill came in from the Tonto Basin for the opening of the
dam bids. He reported everything was going smoothly
except for the freighting. He said the final touches were
being put on the upper 10 miles of the power canal and the
lower part, about nine miles long, would require another
four months of work. The uncompleted sections required the
heaviest work, 19

The penstock for the power canal was under construction.
Hill said the power canal would develop 5,000 horsepower,
and another 2,500 horsepower would be developed through
penstocks placed in the dam. He said seven miles
downstream there was a place to develop another 2,500
horsepower and just above the mouth of the Verde River,
4,500 horsepower. 200

Hill said the cement plant was ready to begin grinding raw
materials, with the only thing holding up the grinding the
inability to bring in oil over the road from Globe. Four
carloads of an order of 1,500 barrels were in Globe
awaiting delivery. 21

Twenty-two bids were opened February 23 for
construction of the dam. The low bid of $1,147,600 was
made by John M, O'Rourke & Co. of Galveston, Texas.

O’Rourke proposed to build the dam in 24 months, while the
second lowest bidder, Roderick & Wood of St Louis,
proposed to take 17 months atacost of $1,187,200. The high
bid was $2,685,900 and called for a 30-month construction
period. 22 The height of the dam above the low water mark
was to be 230 feet, and the reservoir when full was to contain
1,100,000 acre-feet of water, 201 _

The following day, the Republican said, “The people
generally are feeling quite jubilant over the figures
presented. . . The cost is materially less than had been
predicted by many who were disposed to take a pessimistic
view of things.” 204

The newspaper also pointed out the government
specifications called for the dam to come into use when 150
feet above the level of the riverbed. By that time four-fifths of
the masonry work would be completed, but the reservoir
would hold only about a third of its capacity compared to
when it was completed. The newspaper said,

The reasons are obvious why the last one-fifth af the work will be
the fifth that will provide for the holding of two-thirds of the water
when the basin is full. 3 '

Kibbey was confirmed as governor by the U.S. Senate on
February 27, 2 He took office the afternoon of Tuesday,
March 7, 1905. 27
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March - August 1905

Two men died in the first two days of March 1905, at the
Tonto Basin. The first was Alex McGalvey, one of the men
working on the extension of the Roosevelt road above the
dam site. McGalvey fell from a 300-foot-high cliff to the
rocks below. Though several men were working near him,no
one saw him fall. One of his companions missed him. They
looked over the edge of the cliff and saw him on the rocks.
This happened March .}

The next day, Mills Van Wagenen, 20, of Globe, was with
three other men on the suspension bridge over the Salt River
watching Osborne Richins take flow measurements. A
heavy rock broke free from the side of the mountain and
crushed one of the cables holding the bridge between the
canyon walls. The bridge tipped as it dropped about 20 feet
to the water, spillingall of the men but Richins into the swift-
running river. Richins, stream gauger for the Reclamation
Service, grabbed one of the wires along the side of the bridge.
Van Wagenen, an inexperienced swimmer, was swept
away. ? His body was found 16 days later caught in some
branches at the head of the Utah Canal, about eight miles
below the junction of the Salt and Verde rivers. * He had
been employed by the government,

Two of the men who had been on the bridge, Will Galpin
and Ellis Palmer, swam to safety, while the fourth man, an
unidentified stranger, was puiled to safety by Richins. 3

Ah Soo, a Chinese employed as a cook at the
Reclamation Services headquarters camp, almost drowned
when he attempted to swim the river following a hunt for
game. He was saved by several Indians camped on the north
side of the river, ¢

A different kind of event, a wedding, the first at
Roosevelt, took place at 430 p.m., March 5. John D.
Houston, a Roosevelt businessman, married Rose E.
Velasco. The bride had been bornat oid Fort McDowelland
had been reared in Phoenix.?

The Tonto Basin had several days of clear weather, then
rain fell again. The deluges of water, besides bringing
freighting to a virtual standstill, washed out the railroad in
the vicinity of Globe. The Salt River Valley too had a few
days of respite from the rain, but it began falling again, and
the flow in the river continued high. Water poured over the
Arizona Dam. 8

By March 16, 10.42 inches of rain had fallen in Phoenix,
which was nearly twice the 5.57 inches that fell in all of
1904. ¢ One old-timer, Henry Morgan, said he had notseena
rainy season equal to this one except in the spring of 1864 or
1865. Twice in March, the water flow at the Roosevelt dam
site reached between 50,000 and 60,000 cubic feet per
second, 10

On March 17, seven feet of water was measured coming
over the Arizona Dam at 4 o'clock in the afternoon. ! Two
spans of the Phoenix & Eastern Railroad bridge dropped
into the Salt River at Tempe, but a second railroad bridge,
the Maricopa & Phoenix, withstood the burrowing water.

“The river carved acreage away from bordering farms, and at
the Center Street crossing south of Phoenix, it wassaid to be
the highest in 14 years. 1

Despite the miserable conditions and the boggy road
between Mesa and Goldfield, ¥ Wolf Sachs on March 21
sent out his first freight wagon on the Rooseveltroad.  The
Arizona Republican reported,

Wednesday two more of Wolf Sachs’ six-mule teams came up to
Mesa and loaded with grain and hay and supplies for the Tonto
Dam. This makes five outfits on the road. .. Mesa, with the starting
of the oil teams and the teams for handling the merchandise end
supplies, takes on the air of a hustling mining camp in the early
days, less the drunkenness and noise. V¥

There was no way to get the supplies directly to Roosevelt
because the over-the-hill road had not been completed, and
the road along the river past the dam site remained under
water, 16 There were two ways to get the supplies to the

_ camp: one choice was to send it via pack trains and the other

was to haul the goods upriver in a boat. Neither method was
appealing, but until the river went down or the Roosevelt
road was completed, those were the options, 7

Word came from Washington, D.C,, that the contract for
construction of the Roosevelt Dam had been awarded to
John M. O'Rourke & Co. of Galveston, Texas, 18

Benjamin A. Fowler, president of the Water Users’
Association, called the governors and attorneys in the city
into conference March 27 to discuss the water priority
tawsuit of Hurley v. Abbott. ' Fowler, who had returned
from Washington the previous week, revealed to them letters
written to him February 23, 1905, by Arthur P. Davis,
assistant chief engineer of the Reclamation Service, and
February 24, 1905, by Morris Bien, supervising engineer,
expressing concern over opposition to the lawsuit. Davis
wrote,

It was distinctly understood from the first that such an
adjudication would be made at the earliest possible date, and itis a
great surprise and disappointment that this policy does not meet
with universal favor. . . . It is (2} necessary preliminary to any
intelligent determination on the part of the association or on the
part of the government as to how much water will be available for
distribution to the lands that have been pledged for the payment of
the cost of the reservair.

A large proportion of the lands that have been thus pledged are
in tracts greater than 160 acres, and under the terms of the
reclamation act, must be sold to persons who are eligible to perfect.

" a water right under that act. No intelligent purchase or sale of such

lands can be made until it is known whether or not they will be
irrigated by the proposed project, and this uncertainty attachestoa
very large proportion of the lands in the reclamation district. Their
sale depends upon their status with regard to water rights, which
cannot be settled until after a judicial decree and a determination as
to whether they will be included in the area served by the
reservoir, . ..

If this adjudication is not made as soon as practicable,
it will be necessary for the government to determine in some other
way the lands to be served by the reservoir which will lead fo
dissatisfaction and litigation, and will necessitate an eventual
adjudication such as is now proposed with the delay and loss that
such a delay will occasion. ¥
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Bien said opposition to Hurley came as a surptise to him,

because one of the fundamental ideas wurged upon the
consideration of the secretary of the interior in February I 904, for
immediate action on the draft of contract then submitted was that
this was a necessary preliminary to adjudication of these claims to
the use of water. #

Bien reminded Fowler the secretary had stated this in his
jetter of February 25, 1904, to the director of the U.S.
Geological Survey, and the letter had been printed as part of
the draft of the contract circulated in a pamphlet to
shareholders in the Water Users’ Association before the
association’s election ratifying the contract. The secretary
had said,

Unless some agreement or understanding as to the distribution
of all the waters made available by means of the reservoir can be
arrived at, so that its use can be muade uniform by one system, a
conflict between the users of the increased supply and the owners of
the vested rights in the natural flow of the stream would seem to be
inevitable, 2

Bien said failure to carry out the adjudication would be
regarded by the secretary as a “direct violation of {the terms
of the contract], leaving him free of any obligation specified
in it.” He warned if the adjudication was not accomplished
“there is grave doubt whether any storage would be possible
by the Reclamation Service for the benefit of the members of
the association.” He concluded:

Unless adjudication of these individual water rights is carried
through by the association, the main purpose of its existence is not
vealized. It is doubtful, therefore, whether the department would
undertake to operate the storage system in the face of the serious
conflicts of rights that must necessarily arise if no adjudication of
these rights has been made. ¥ .

There was no apparent disagreement among either the
governors or the attorneys as to the need for the
adjudication, but no definite action was taken.

The Council of the Water Users’ Association met April |
at the Board of Trade to discuss the situation. About 100
persons were present, including Governor Joseph H.
Kibbey, association attorney, who argued the lawsuit was
absolutely necessary. He said he had heard talk of a
settlement by agreement, but nothing had come of it, He said
the suit would go on, and the expense would be much greater
if the water users waited to receive summons before replying. 2

William J, Murphy, though not a Council member, was
allowed to speak. He expressed strong opposition to Hurley,
contending the suit would continue for years and would be
expensive to every landowner. Murphy said he believed the
letters from Davis and Bien had been solicited. %

Fowler followed Murphy, and said he had asked for the
letters while he was in Washington. Fowler said the
opposition to the suit was discussed with Reclamation
officials, and all of them said it was necessary. He said he did
not want {o return to Arizona as the bearer of messages but
thought it would be better if letters were addressed to him.
Fowler said he doubted an agreement could be reached to
which all water users would subscribe. He said he had been
informed by the court that, unless an agreement was
unanimous, it was worthless. The suit was the only option. ¥

Again, nothing definite was done, 2
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The election of association governors took place April 4.
A week later, Fowler wrote to Davis, telling him, “in several
of the districts the election turned on ‘suit or no suit’ to
establish prior rights.” Fowler said Dr. Alexander J.
Chandler had engineered the election of W. J. Kingsbury,
who, like Chandler, opposed Hurley. Fowler said that, as the
board then stood, it was split for and against the lawsuit,
with Fowler providing the necessary sixth vote in favor.
Among the farmers elected to the Board of Governors was
Maricopa County Supervisor John P, Orme. ‘

Fowler reported that there had been,

so many determined threats of vigorous litigation and
determination to carry the suit on demurrer and other technicalities
to the United States Supreme Court, and thus delay action, that it
has seemed to me best to find some other way, if it is possible, by
which these rights can be adfudicated, ¥

If some other way could not be found, Fowler said the suit
would have to be pushed, even if it took years to settle, which
“causes apprehension throughout the business community.”
In addition to such large landholders as Chandler and
Murphy, the real estate men opposed the suit. 3! The suit was
a threat to land sales under the larger canals [Chandler’s
Consolidated, Murphy’s Arizona] where the appropriations
of water were the youngest, Although Chandler and Murphy
were sharcholders in the Water Users® Association and they
knew the government insisted upon determining the priority
of rights before distribution of water from the reservoir
began, they apparently preferred maintaining the status quo
for as long as they could. They were comfortable with the
situation as it was, and they could not know, as no one could,
what the court might do.

The weather improved in the Tonto Basin so freighting
between there and Globe began to return to normal. The
Reclamation Service office in Phoenix reported oil was
beginning to arrive in Roosevelt from Globe, and the cement
mill would soon start up. 3

The Council met April 8 to discuss Hurley. At length, the
Council adopted two resolutions. The first, appointed the
Council chairman, C. T. Hirst, and a councilman from each
district to prepare a report for the Council outlining *“the
best means of promptly adjusting the rights to the use of
irrigating water.” The second, invited any person havinga
plan to adjust the rights to present it in writingand to explain
it in person at a meeting scheduled April 22, %

Heavy rains again descended on the Tonto Basin country
April 8, 3 and word came April 12 from Roosevelt that the
water in the river was higher than at any other time that year.
The water was reported to be 25-feet deep. ¥

At 4 o'clock on the afternoon of April 12, the water
coming over the Arizona Dam was 7.7-feet deep. % In the
forenoon the following day, with nearly eight feet of water
topping the dam, timbers began to slough away,

By 3 p.m., it was estimated the hole in the dam was 200-
feet wide. 37 The Republican said,

The importance of this misfortune is not alone in the property
loss to the canal company, . .it very seriously affects nearly all the
north side ranchers, for the reason that it may mean an entire lack

of irrigation water for their crops later on, when the dry season
comes and the rain stops. And it could not occur at a mare eritical



time, far the crops now are all growing, and If ... e is a shortage it
wili be during the season when they are maturing. ¥

The dam was 1,100-feet long and about ten feet high, with
aprons slanting into the river bed on both the upstream and
downstream sides. Six inches to seven feet of water had come
over the dam since January 10. 3 The last time the dam had
broken was in 1891 when almost 18 feet of water topped it. €

A general meeting of water users April 13 resulted in the
unanimous adoption of a resolution urging the governors
and Council of the Water Users’ Association to do
everything possible to expedite Hurley v. Abbott and for all
shareholders to file their answers. The resolution also urged
all water users agree that the evidence adduced in M.
Wormser, et al, v. the Salt River Valley Canal Co., et al,
which resulted in the Kibbey Decree,

as to the cultivation and right to the use of water on particular
Innds under the several canals, be admitted as competent evidence
in the suit of Huriey v. Abbott, et al, and be considered
determinative of the rights to the use of water upon sald several
tracts of lands therein tabulated as of date of the decision. . . 8

The Kibbey Decree set forth the number of quarter
sections of land entitled to water under the canals bétween
the years 1868 and 1889. A table included with the decision
showed 946 quarter sections irrigated under eight canals.
The decree did not deal with the rights of individual lands
receiving water through the canals, #

On April 14, the break in the Arizona Dam wassaid to be
about 300 feet. 43 A report from Tempe said the greater part
of the timbers had lodged in the river between there and
Mesa, and in one place a man could almost cross on them
without getting wet. 4 William B. Cleary, general manager
of the Arizona Water Co., which operated the dam, said
April 15 the management already was planning to begin
repairs when the water went down. The break in thedam was
said to have grown larger,* and by April 17, it was
estimated to be 400-feet wide. 46

The break in the dam also caused two hydroelectric power
plants, which depended upon the Arizona Canal for water,
to cease operations. The Evergreen power station was on a
crosscut canal on the Salt River Indian Reservation, and the
Arizona Falls plant was at today’s 56th Street and Indian
School Road in Phoenix. The two stations supplied
electricity to the Phoenix Light & Fuel Co. for distribution
in Phoenix. The company maintained a steam power plant
for backup. ¥

The cement mill at Roosevelt began operating April 17, 4
but it was not to run at full capacity until 1906. There were
two reasons. First, the electric generating capacity of the
temporary Steam power plant was insufficient. It was not
until April 2, 1906, that the cement mill received electricity
from the temporary hydroelectric power plant so it could
run at capacity. Second, the grinding of the cement was
slower than anticipated. This probiem was resolved by the
purchase of a second tube miil for grinding cement. It was
installed in November 1903, increasing the capacity of the
cement mill by about 50 percent. ¥

Once the mill was operating at capacity, it took two
months to fill the storage space set aside for cement, The mill

was closed from June .hrough September 1906. Until
August 1909, when all the cement required had been
manufactured, the mill shut down three more times, May
and November 1907, and August 1909, The capacity of the
mill was about 10,000 barrels per month, but its highest
single month's production was 14,000 barrels. The total
output was 338,452 barrels. The cost of manufacturing,
including depreciation of the plant, was $1,063,542.36, or
$3.14 per barrel, which was 3175 per barrel less than the low
bid of $4.89 for delivering the product at Roosevelt, The
Reclamation Service figured the savings to the farmers was
$591,487, %

The dam contractor, John M. O’'Rourke, and his business
partner, George N. Steinmetz, after visiting the dam site,
came to Phoenix April 21 and met with local businessmen
and Reclamation Service officials. O'Rourke told a
newspaper reporter it would take about four months before
active work would begin. Hesaid the temporary power plant
had to be in operation and machinery purchased. In the
interim, quarries would be opened and cables, trams,
derricks and other equipment readied. O’'Rourke said one
advantage was the gquarries would be on the hills
overlooking the dam site, which eliminated the need for
building railroads. He estimated 300 to 500 men would be
employed, depending upon the stage of the work. The part of
the work on which he hoped to employ the most men was the
laying of the foundation, He said the work would be pushed
as fast as possible, regardless of the season. The first work
would be the excavation of the dam site. If watercame along
and filled the hole, it would be taken out at the earliest
opportunity and the work continued until the dam was
built. 3

Stockholders of the Appropriators’ Canal Co. met April
22. Because of the damage to the Arizona Dam, they now
envisioned the role of the Appropriators' as supplying water
at all times for land under the Grand Canal. The
Appropriators’ stockholders voted to raise and spend $7,500
for construction, including building three bridges, and to
meet with directors of the Grand Canal to ask permission to
connect the Appropriators’ Canal to the Grand Canal, 5

The Council also met April 22 and discussed two plans
proposed to the subcommittee appointed April 8 for
facilitating settlement of the priority suit. Both plans
involved dividing the land into classes according to the
priority of appropriation and establishing 40 miners’ inches
as the amount of water to which each quarter section of land
should be entitled. A plan offered by C. B. Wood proposed
continuing the distribution of water to the Tempe and San
Francisco canals as provided by the Kibbey Decree. The
plan proposed designating lands irrigated between 1868 and
1875, as described in the Kibbey Decree, as Class A. Other
classes proposed were land irrigated between 1875 and 1880
Class B, 1880 to 1885 Class C, and 1885 to 1890 Class D.
Lands no longer irrigated were to be excluded. Since the
plan “would protect every legitimate right” of the lands to be
irrigated, estimated at between 100,000 and 110,000 acres,
Wood believed “the suit to allintents and purposes would be
settled.” Kibbey condemned Wood's plan as
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impracticable, $ undoubtedly because it contained no
provision for determining the priority rights of individual
lands. It also smacked of Dwight B. Heard's rejected
proposal for a reservoir regulating right by which the
reservoir would provide water for already existing rights,
Frank H. Parker, the association secretary, offered the
second plan. Parker’s plan proposed using tables prepared
by the Maricopa County Board of Water Storage
Commissioners, showing 120,000 acres (750 quarter
sections) in actual cultivation in 1901. Until the priorities of
the landowners were determined, Parker wanted them to

agree the 750 quarter sections had the first right to waterand -

the water would be divided equally. He also thought it would
be an advantage if the number of quarter sections with first
rights to the flow of the Salt and Verderivers wasreduced to
700 quarter sections. These were to be designated Class A
lands. Lands with occasionalirrigation, estimated to include
300 to 400 quarter sections, were to be Class B. Parker
proposed the Kibbey Decree be used to locate the 700
quarter sections in Class A. %

Neither plan was acceptable to the Council, which
adopted a resolution calling for a Committee of Sixteen to
make & concerted effort,

to unite the owners of cultivated lands both within and without
the association, on some form of an agreement as to the use of the
natural appropriated flow of the Salt and Verde rivers. Said
agreement to be used as a stipulation in the suit of Hurley vs.

Abbott, et al., and io be binding upon all parties signing such
agreement. %

After it was pointed out the resolution seemed to favor
cultivated lands over uncultivated lands, an amendment to
the resolution was added:

Said commitiee shall be empowered fo work out a compromise
plan for the lands within the association, if in their study of the
situation they find such a plan feasible. *

A resolution named to the Committee of Sixteen the
president of the association, Fowler; vice president, Dr.
Ethelbert W, Wilbur; the secretary, Parker; and the
chairman of the council, Hirst. Hirst and Fowler were
authorized to-name seven members of the Council, three
governors, and one representative each fromlands under the
Tempe and San Francisco canals not in the association, 5
The appointments were made April 24, Heard was named to
represent the San Francisco Canal. #

The Roosevelt road opened for traffic April 24, and the
first stage went over it that night. * The cost of building the
63 miles of the road was $350,644, © Opening the road did
not mean an end to road construction. There were more
roads to be built in addition to maintenance, repairs, and
improvements,

Fowler left for Washington April 25. He considered the
breaking of the Arizona Dam as an opportunity for the
Water Users’ Asscciation to acquire the north side canal
system from the Arizona Water Co. and to press the Interior
Department for construction of a permanent solid masonry
diversion dam, ¢!

On April 26, the management of the Grand Canal

104

announced it was willing to meset with representatives of the
Appropriators’ Canal to work out an agreement under
which Grand Canal water users could get water while the
Arizona Dam was being repaired. Lioyd B. Christy,
president of the Grand Canal, and Cleary, secretary, offered
to lease to the Appropriators’ the portion of the Grand
Canal from its headgates opposite Tempe westerly to its
intersection with the Crosscut Canal, provided the
Appropriators’ repaired it. Christy and Cleary also said they
were willing to pay for water delivery to the Crosscut until
the Arizona Dam was diverting water and the Arizona Canal
was supplying water into the Crosscut. 6

The proposition proferred by Christy and Cleary was
immediately rejected by Appropriators’ Canal officials
because it would have defeated and undone everything they
had accomplished. The Appropriators’ came up with a-
counter proposition consisting of two plans: first, the
Appropriators’ would complete its canal from the river to
the intersection of the Grand Canal within four weeks and
would supply water for six months without cost to the Grand
Canal. This would be done provided the Grand Canal would
obtain permission from its associated corporation, the
Arizona Water Co., for the Appropriators’ to extend its
canal across a quarter section of land owned by the Arizona
Water Co. lying between the western end of the
Appropriators’ and the Grand Canal. The Appropriators’
offered to pay reasonable damages for permission to cross
the quarter section.

Second, the Appropriators’ would allow the Grand Canal
to complete the Appropriators’ Canal within four weeks and
the Appropriators’ would pay the construction costs. The
Appropriators’ would give the Grand Canal a lien on the
Appropriators’, and would allow the Grand Canal to remain
in possession of it, rent free, until the cost was repaid with
interest. In exchange, the Grand Canal would supply water
to the Jandowners until such time as the Grand Canal again
obtained water through the Arizona Canal, 6

The two sides met April 29, but could not agree to a
compromise. The Appropriators’ officials decided to go
ahead with the construction of their canal, paralieling the
Grand Canal, and prepare to go to court over their digging
across the gquarter section owned by the Arizona Water
Co, &

The Reclamation Service announced it would accept bids
for construction of a sand crushing plant at Roosevelt until 2
p.m. May 15. The sand would be used in the cement and
concrete work at the dam,

Hill reported the high water in the river had filled the
sluicing tunnel with sand. He said the sand could easily be
flushed out with water when the tunnel was needed. He also
said preliminary work for the gates was continuing. The
chamber above the tunne] was completed, and workmen
were about 40 feet away from having drilled through from
the top downward, ®

Hill said about 5,000 yards of rock had been removed
from the south wall of the canyon to accommodate the
temporary power plant, The rock had been dumped into the
riverbed, and nearly all of it had been carried away by the



floods. Hili said that was the only goou .urn the river had
done for them. ¥

About 120 feet of the power canal penstock had been
excavated as an uprise, and Hill said another force would
begin working downward in a few days. As soon as wood
could be supplied for fuel, compressed air drilis would be
used in the excavation, he said. &

The rainy weather had seriously delayed progress, Hill
said, but about 500 government employees were at work, @
The main headquarters was now at Roosevelt, with the
engineers and office workers occupying the Reclamation
Service’s new building at Roosevelt. 7

On May 1, the governors adopted a resolution giving
delinquent stockholders until June 1 to pay the preliminary
assessment of ten cents per share without penalty. The
Council adopted a bylaw imposing a penalty of two cents per
share for the first 30 days of delinquency after June 1 and one
cent per share for each succeeding 30-day period. The
Council adopted another bylaw permitting landowners
gualified to become shareholders to apply for stock. Upon
payment of the ten cents per share, the land wouid be placed
upon the “waiting list” for later decision by the secretary of
the interior as to which land in the reservoir district would
get water, The bylaws could not become effective until
approved by the interior secretary, an action that took place
October 25, 1905, The period for paying the ten cents per
share was extended until June 1, 1906. 7!

A traction engine to haul oilin 34 barrel tanks on specially
built wagons between Mesa and Government Well passed
through Tempe en route to Mesa on May I, 1905, on the
Maricopa & Phoenix Railroad. Government Well was
about two and one-half miles northeast of Goldfield on the
Roosevelt road and was the point at which the road began its
passage through the mountains.

The traction engine, owned by C. R. Eager & Co,,
weighed 23 tons and stood on three wheels, two at the rear
and the third centered at the front. The wheels were 57-
inches high with tires 42-inches wide and required aroad 14-
feet wide. To accommodate the engine, which was equipped
with a gasoline fueled marine corrugated boiler, the
Reclamation Service laid out a new road from Mesa to
Government Well and built extra strength bridges. Pullinga
full load of four wagons with filled tanks, totaling 58,432
pounds, the traction engine chugged along at about three
miles per hour. At Government Well the wagons were
hitched to six-horse teams for the haul to Roosevelt. A
second traction engine was put in service in September, 7

The Committee of Sixteen met May 6 to consider the
Kibbey Decree and other data, including tables showing
river water flows, water distribution, cultivated acreage, and
contracts between the various canals, In addition, Parker
announced that printed copies of the complaint in Hurley v.
Abbott and printed forms to make formal answer to the suit
were available at the Water Users’ Association offices.
Kibbey had drawn up the form to make formal answer; the
water user had only to fill in appropriate blanks, 7

On May 6, Fowler delivered a letter in Washington, D.C,,
to Frederick H. Newell, chief engineer of the Reclamation

Service, in which Foy  rsaid the Arizona Water Co. “would
gladly unload” the injured Arizona Dam and the company’s
canal interests, and the Water Users® Association “would
gladly purchase,” provided the Interior Department would
appoint a commission or board to determine the price and
terms. Fowler also asked the government to replace the
Arizona Dam with a,

permanent masonry diversion dam for the benefit af the whele
valley, with head gates, at either end to supply main distributing
canals, on both the north and south sides of the river, which, in the
early future, will be eonsolidated under the administration of the
Salt River Valley Water Users’ Association. 7

Before writing the letter, Fowler had been in New- York
City getting the agreement of Hiram R. Steele, vice president
of the Arizona Water Co., and his associates for the sale of
the company to the Water Users’ Association. None of this
was known to the water users until after Fowler returned to
the Valley in June,

Newell replied to Fowler’s letter at once—on May 6.
Newell said the government already had spent and would
spend more money on the Salt River project than authorized
by the reclamation act [section 9 of the act provided funds
derived from the sale of public lands be spent on projects
within the state or territory where the lands were sold). For
that reason, he said, “it bas therefore become necessary to
scrutinize with great care all propositions for additional
expenditures.” 75

After reminding Fowler that, “All the dealings of the
Reclamation Service with the people of the valley. . .have
been based upon. . .a proper adjustment of [vested water]
rights before any new expenditures are undertaken in the
valley or any stored water is furnished for irrigation,” Newell
said the question of building the diversion dam would be
investigated. He closed the letter by asking Fowler to urge
upon the Water Users’ Association the immediate

" “adjustment of the existing water rights, in order that the

government may proceed without delay or uncertainty.” ™

Newell did not comment upon Fowler's request for the
appointment of a board to determine the value of the
Arizona Water Co. holdings, but. they undoubtedly
discussed this. Fowler commuted back and forth between
Washington and New York, trying to bring together a
satisfactory arrangement for the purchase of the water
company.

The Committee of Sixteen, on May 9, appointed a three-
member subcommittee, Heard, Parker, and Wilbur, to
consider the substitution of a regulated flow for the
fluctuating flow of water. The committee had determined
the regulated flow coming from the reservoir would be less
than the average amount of water actually delivered. 7
Heard unquestionably was the chief exponent of the
regulated flow, which would have provided the regulation
right in the reservoir for which he had fought unsuccessfully
when the association’s articles of incorporation were
written.

The subcommittee issued its report May 13, including a
recommendation that a daily regulated flow be adopted.
However, the daily regulated flow was abandoned after
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ensting meetings of the full committee indicated it would be
impossible to get agreement on it among all water users, ™

Meanwhile, work on the Appropriators’ Canal
progressed, with a new head at the level of the river bottom
built 2 mile and a half farther upstream. ™ Cleary reported
the repair work at the Arizona Dam and the Arizona Canal
would proceed faster if more animals could be obtained. The
canal was filled with sand for a distance of two miles. The
break in the dam measured 190 feet, and some of the
cribbing still stood in the breach, ®

Bids for the sand crushing plant were opened May 13, and
the lowest of four, $5,531.86, came from the Mine and
Smelter Supply Co. of El Paso, Texas, which received the
contract, ® The same day, the first two tanks of oil were sent
out from Mesa by freight train. The traction engine was
ready for work, but the road was not in good enough shape.
Oil was arriving at Rooseveilt from Globe for use at the
cermnent mill, and some of the cement was used to line the
power canal, Hill reported more than 200 feet of the power
canal penstock had been excavated. 82

The Orange Growers’ Association, made up of 20
.orchardists, met May 18 and decided to order four pumps
from a San Francisco company for use in drawing water
from the river at the head of the Arizona Canal. Since the
Arizona Water Co. was not supplying the water for which
they had paid, the ranchers did not see how anyone could
object to their plan. The aggregate capacity of the pumps
was 1,850 miners’ inches {91.5 acre-feet in 24 hours), &

Secretary of the Interior Ethan A, Hitchecock, on May 18,
agreed to appoint three “disinterested engineers or experts”
to calculate the value of the Arizona Water Co., as proposed
by Fowler and Steele, Charles D. Walcott, director of the
U.8. Geological Survey, informed Fowler of the decision by
letter May 22, Walcott said that agreement te appoint the
board was done “upon the distinct understanding that the
United States does not at this time assume the obligation to
pay the amount appraised nor to purchase the property at
any price or in any event, this question to be left for future
decision when the value of the property, as determined by
the Commission, shail become known.” 34

Fowler sent a letter May 23 to the Interior Departmentin
which he enclosed a form of contract for the sale of the
Arizona Water Co. to the Water Users’ Association. He
asked Hitchcock to approve the contract form. %

On May 24, 3,000 acres of the Salt River Indian
Reservation on the north side of the Salt River and 900 acres
on the south side were signed for stock in the Water Users’
Association. The land was signed in upon the
recommendation of Willlam H. Code, irrigation engineer
for the U.S. Bureau of Indian Affairs. Authority for Joseph
B. Alexander, superintendent of the Indian reservation, to

enroll the Indian land was given by Hitchcock on May 18,
Alexander was told to,

take such steps as may be necessary fo carry out the
recommendations of Inspector Code with respect to signing up on
the waiting list of the Water Users’ Association for reservoir rights
Jor the Indians. .. 8

The Indians on the Salt River Reservation were never
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issued reservoir rights, their land being omitted when the
interior secretary designated which acreage within the
reservoir district would receive stored water. One reason for
this was the land would have been subject to a lien for the
payment of all assessments of the association. &

The pumps ordered by the Orange Growers’ Association
arrived by train May 24. They were immediately loaded on
four-horse wagons for movement to the head of the Arizona
Canal. Foundations for the pumps and two engines to run
them, one gasoline and the other steam, already were in
place. ¥ Two of the pumps were in operation by May 28, but
more power was needed to start the others. The two working
pumps produced about 1,500 inches of water, but the water
was not going far because the Arizona Canal still had not
been cleaned. The pumps were started in the hope the water
would wash some of the sand downstream and help open the
canal, 8 :

Meanwhile, some of the orange growers hauled water in
to irrigate trees and installed pumps for that purpose. % The
pumps at the head of the Arizona Canal failed to get
sufficient water down the canal to do any good, so the
Orange Growers’ Association closed them down June 15, 9!
In addition, the Arizona Water Co. expected to have water
in the Arizona Canal a few days thereafier. Repairs
involving the Arizona Dam included the construction of a
gravel dike that circled the breach to keep water from
passing through. The dike, intended as a temporary work
while new cribbing was built in the river to fill in the break,
ran to the head of the canal. Water was turned down the
canal June 18, %

Hitchcock, on June 1, wrote to Fowler, saying,

1 have concluded that the interests of the government will be best
subserved and the situation much simplified by the purchase of the
property of the Arizona Water company directly by the United
States, provided that such property can be aequired, including all
outstanding interests conirolled by the company, for a satisfactory
consideration.

Despite this explicit statement, Hitchcock added “that
this proposed action has no significance or effect beyond the
ascertainment of the value of the property controlled by the
Arizona Water company. . "%

That same day, Concord stageccaches arrived at Mesa.
They were ordered from a San Francisco firm by William A.
Kimball for a stage line between Mesa and Roosevelt, One
seated eight passengers and the other ten. It was announced
the stages would go into operation at once, making stops at
Goldfield, Morman Flat, and Fish Creek to change horses.
The stage office in Roosevelt was at Warren Barnett’s drug
store, and in Mesa, in the former post office building. The
competition ro doubt prompted J. Holdren & Sons, the
existing stage line, to report a l4-passenger automobile had
been ordered for use between Mesa and Government Well, It
was promised the auto, which would have & speed of 20 miles
an hour, would make a daily round trip between the two
points, %

Fowler and Steele, on June 7, sent a letter to Hitchcock in
which they described the property of the Arizona Canal Co.
to be appraised. The property included the Arizona Canal



and Dam; all-contracts, including one all. ..ing the Phoenix
Light & Fuel Co. to develop hydroelectric power with water
flowing in the Arizona Canal; controlling interest in the
Grand, Salt River Valley, Maricopa, and Water Power
{Crosscut) canals, and all water rights and property owned
under the canals. They said the “appraisement shall be
governed by the rules that would apply if the property was
being taken by condemnation proceedings.” They
concluded,

that this appraisement is to be made with a view of said property
being taken over by the United States government as an integral
part of the irrigation system for said valley if the povernment shall

hereafter elect to do so but that the government is in no way
obligated to make said purchase. %

{n Phoenix on June 7, Cleary, on behalf of the Arizona
Water Co., warned the Appropriators’ Canal company to
cease its operations, 8 The Appropriators’ had built a flume
under the Crosscut Canal, and men and teams were
excavating a canal paralleling the Grand Canal. The flume
was 20-feet wide and three-feet deep. The Arizona Water Co.
claimed the land on which the Appropriators’ Canal was
being extended, 9% The Arizona Water Co. filed suit June 9,
and a temporary injunction was issued to halt the canal
digging. ¥

Water users under the Grand, Maricopa, and Salt River

Valley canals met June 10. Landowners under the latter two
adopted a resolution calling upon the Arizona Water Co. to
repair the Joint Head Dam (a short distance east of today’s
48th Street on the north side of the Salt River in Phoenix)
and to clean the sand out of the Salt River Valley Canalsoit
could carry an adequate amount of water. The situation
between the Arizona Water Co. and the Appropriators’
Canal was discussed, and Lincoln Fowler said he had
tendered the water company $250 in gold for the strip of land
near the Crosscut through which the Appropriators’ had
run. The strip of land was 60-fect wide and a mile long. An
answer to the Arizona Water Company’s lawsuit had been
made by the Appropriators’, including the filing of a
condemnation proceeding for the strip of land. 1%

‘Hitchcock wrote to Benjamin Fowler June 10, telling hima
commission would be appointed to appraise the Arizona
Water Co. Hitchcock also advised him that, while this was
being done with the understanding the government was
under no obligation to buy, “It must be. . .understood that if
any purchase shall be made by the government it must be to
the property as an entirety.” 10!

On Monday, June 12, a flow of 6,000 inches of water ran
through the Appropriators’ Canal into the Grand Canal
west of the Crosscut Canal. The farmers also decided to
improve the Joint Head Dam themselves. 162

When the case of the Arizona Water Co. against the
Appropriators’ Canal Co. came up in court, attorney
Thomas Armstrong Jr. said the Appropriators’ had ignored
the temporary injunction because the farmers needed the
water, Cleary asked for 30 days in which to prepare evidence,
but Judge Edward Kent denied the request and seta hearing
for the following day. Cleary also sent men and teams to
work on the Joint Head Dam, 19

After hearing arg -nts June 13, Kent took under
advisement whether to dissolve the injunction. He also set
June 14 to hear the Appropriators’ condemnation suit,
Meantime, under the direction of Heard, work continued on
the Appropriators’ Canal, and it was expected that within a
few days water would be turned into the Salt River Valley
and Maricopa canals as well as the Grand Canal. 1%

Hitchcock, on June 14, approved the appointments of
George Y. Wisner, W, H. Sanders, and A. E. Chandler to
serve as a commission to appraise the property of the
Arizona Water Co. 195 The same day, Hitchcock wrote to
Fowier and Steele telling them of the action, 108

Also on that day, Kent ruled the Appropriators’ could
have the strip of land owned by the Arizona Water Co. The
only testimony concerned the value of the land, put by the
Appropriators’ at $10 to $15 per acre for the approximately
eight acres involved. The ground had never been cultivated
and was covered with virgin brush. Cleary put the value of
the land between $40 and $50 peracre. He testified the bush
was a valuable crop cultivated by the Arizona Water Co. for
use in the construction and repair of the Joint Head Dam.
Kent ordered the Appropriators' to excecute a bond of $300
until the value of the land was determined, '¢7

The Republican, in an editorial, pointed out the
significance of Kent's ruling in the Appropriators’
condemnation case:

If the Apprepriators’ canal can invade the territory of the
Arizona Water company. . what is to prevent it. ., .jrom
constructing & system of canals which will parallel the old system?

And if this privilege exists, what becomes of the value of the
property and rights heretofore enjoyed by the Arizona Water

company? That such value has been greatly lessened is the natural
conclusion.

.. .the new state of effairs would seem to give the ranchers a
decided advantage in negotiating with the Arizona Water company
for the acquirement of its holdings. To put it bluntly, the way seems
clear for the ranchers to construct a new system of canals in the
event that they cannot reach satisfactory terms with the owners of
the old canal spstem. 19

Benjamin Fowler returned to Phoenix on.June 17. He
said he would report on what had been accomplished at a
meeting of the governors en Monday. Headded the trip east
had been made advisable by the breaking of the Arizona
Dam and the discussions had involved the system of water
distribution. 109 - ‘

The Grand, Maricopa, and Salt River Valley canals’
water. users met and adopted resolutions calling for
completion of the Appropriators’ Canal, delivery of water
from it to the Maricopa and Salt River Valley canals,
purchase of stock inthe Appropriators’ by water users under
the three older canals, and construction of 2 permanent dam
at the Joint Head. !°

Soon after, extension of the Appropriators’ Canal began.
By the end of October 1905, the canal’s length was said tobe
30 miles plus 20 miles of laterals. It was estimated the canal
could provide water for 38,000 acres, about 15,000 acres of
which could get water from no other canal. 'l

At the governors’ meeting June 19, Fowler revealed the
exchange of correspondence with Hitchcock. Fowler said he
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total of freight would be about 2,500,000 pounds. ! In
connection with that, the oil delivery contract was sold by
Eager & Co. to Shattuck and Desmond, also of Los Angeles,
on September 23 at Mesa, 1?

Hill said the sawmill in the Sierra Anchas had been closed
and moved to Roosevelt, but a half-million feet of lumber
remained to be hauled. This undoubtedly included poles that
J. M. O'Rourke & Co., the dam contractor, intended {o use
in the construction of cofferdams in the riverbed above and
below the dam site before starting excavation for the dam
foundation. O'Rourke planned to build a large flume
between the cofferdams to carry the normal flow of the river
over the dam site. Hill said if the flow of the river was too
much for the flume, part of the water might be diverted
through the siuicing tunnel. He said O’Rourke had been
delayed in getting started because one piece of machinery
was not shipped until four months after it was ordered. The
machinery was en route then, he said. 13

The condition of the Roosevelt road from Mesa to
Government Well continued to concern Hill and the Good
Roads Association of Mesa, The heavy -wagons had
pulverized the soil to a bed of dust fourinches thick. Hill said
he would see the road was graveled if the association could
persuade the Maricopa County Board of Supervisors to
grade the 12 miles to the county line. It was estimated
grading the road would cost $1,200. However, the only bid
was $5,500, and the supervisors rejected it. The supervisors
asked for new bids, and Shattuck and Desmond offered to
do the grading for $1,500, which was accepted. By theend of
January 1906, the grading was completed and only the
graveling remained to be done, 14

Letters from Steele and the Water Users' Association
president, Benjamin A. Fowler, who had gone to the East
Coast, were received by Kibbey. The Iletters, which
concerned the sale of the Arizonma Water Company’s
property, were read by Kibbey to the governors when they

met October 2. Steele thought the water company should get
$700,000, but he wanted the governors to set a price and to
permit Fowler to act for the association. Fowler said he was
willing to do it but not without instructions, He also
intimated that, while he did not think it was right the
governors should say what the association would pay, if a
figure was sent to him he would be better able to act. It also
appeared from the letters Hill had suggested to Steele and
Fowler that, if the government were assured the association
would take over the water company's property, the
Reclamation Service might at once build the cement
diversion dam, and the expense of repairing the Arizona
Dam would be saved. Fowler said he did not think the
government would build the diversion dam until it had some
estimate of the price of the water company’s holdings. 15

Kibbey told the governors the water company should
initiate the negotiating. He believed the company was more
anxious to sell than the association was to buy. The
governors did not want to offer more than might be
necessary to buy, They also thought it was customary for the
seller to put a price on his goods before the haggling started.
At the governors' instructions, Kibbey sent telegrams to
Steele and Fowler:

To Steele, New York City:

The board of governors met today and directed me to say that it
adheres to its position that negotiations must be initiated by a
proposition from a representative of the water company interests,

To Fowler, Washington, D.C.:

The board has considered the matter. It directs me to say that it
cen undertake no negotiations without a proposition from the
water company as a basis. Every circumstance suggesting
desirability of prompt action has been considered by the board and
it is deemed by it that expedition is more advantageous to the water
company than to the association. If negotintions fail, it will be
because the water company has not initiated them by making a
propasition, It remains with the water company to expedite
matters. The board thinks this should be the place of
negoliations. 16
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By September 1505, teamsters hauled 1,500,000 pounds of freight per month to Roosevelt,
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face of the small dam was to be rough and uneven, against
which the rest of the foundation would rise. Once the small
triangular dam was in, there would be no need for the upper
cofferdam. ¥ floods came, the worst that could happen
would be the filling of the hole between the lower side of the
small dam and the downstream cofferdam. Hill said it would
be the work of but a day or two to pump out the water and
clear away any debris. ¥

On June 1, the Salt River Valley Water Users’ Association
opened its books for registration of all land within the
reservoir district not signed into the association and for the
re-signing of those acres for which their owners had failed to
pay the earlier assessments. The landowners who had not
paid the assessments had the option of paying them and not
re-signing. Shareholders who failed to pay their assessments
within 30 days faced a penalty of two cents per acre and an
additional one cent per acre for every 30 days delay
thereafter, 2

Judge Kent, on June I, signed an ancillary decree
confirming the sale of the Arizona Water Co. A decree
confirming the sale already had been signed in New York
City by Judge Holt, &

Phoenix property owners who had not done so were
urged to deed their water rights to the mayor in trust so thata
single answer could be made for all residents in the suit of
Hurley v. Abbott, The mayor already held in trust the water
rights for the original city limits, Seventh Street to Seventh
Avenue, between Van Buren and Harrison, and for all or
parts of five additions to the city, The Republican said the
city was,

vitally interesied in the case, noi alone because of its indirect
interests in the welfare of the whole valley but because eventually it
is possible power from the Roosevelt dam may be obtained to be
used in connection with the municipal water works spstem. 4

The Salt River Valley Canal and Maricopa Canal
companies on June 6 asked the U.S, District Court to issue
injunctions against the Appropriators’ Canal Co., the Grand
Canal Co., and the Arizona Canal Water Users’ Association
to stop them from appropriating any flow of the Salt River
that interfered with the plaintiffs’diverting 10,000 inches of
water. The suit was aimed particularly at the Appropriators’
Canal Co., which, since a lower level in the river, had been
taking most of the water that had come downstream. When
Frank Trott, water commissioner under the Kibbey Decree,
attempted to regulate the amount of water the
Appropriators’ Canal was taking, company officials turned
him away, saying he had no authority over the canal. The
aim of the injunction suit was to bring the Appropriators’
Canal under the jurisdiction of the court and the
commissioner, 6

At a hearing June 8, Judge Kent indicated he would give
the Appropriators' Canal the old water delivery schedule of
the Grand Canal, which had no head in the river through
which to get water. Kent took that action the following day.
He also ordered that the Arizona Canal Water Users’
Association receive the water formerly taken by the Arizona
Water Co., and the water available for distribution to the
four north side canals be diverted in equal shares of one-

“;.16" G f el :-’-.
Baggage belonging to Halian rockmen loaded for trans
to Roosevelt, June 12, 1906, :

quarter each, It had been brougit out at the hearing that
about 10,500 acres of land were being irrigated from each of
the canals. 66

On June 13, the Gazefte reported work on the Roosevelt
Dam would begin in a few days—the work was the start of
the excavation of the dam site to bedrock. That day, the
Reclamation Service began the diversion of the river
through the sluicing tunnel. The water, when at the height of
the lowest level of the upper cofferdam, flowed through the
tunnel at the rate of 1,300 cubic feet per second. 7

- The site of the excavation was 2,500 feet below the
junction of the Salt River and Tonte Creek. Inlocating the
site, the government drilled three lines of holes across the
stream in search of bedrock. The Reclamation Service
reported the first line of holes drilled was about 1,600 feet
below a line of six holes drilled by the Hudson Reservoir &
Canal Co., which showed the bedrock consisted of
sandstone and broken quartzand varied in depth between 23
and 64,5 feet. The first line of nine holes made by the
government found bedrock in the red sandstone at depths of
between 20 and 38 feet. The second line, 100 feet below the
first, also contained nine holes, and the sandstone bedrock
was from 21 to 24.6-feet deep. The third line, 100 feet below
the middle line, had seven holes, and the bedrock, black
slate, ranged in depth from 21.9 to 31 feet. The Reclamation
Service said,

The final location of the dam was made so that the upper [first]
and middle [second] lines came practically in the foundation, The
bedrock is described as being a hard, tough, fine-grained
sandstone, in well defined strata, dipping upstream at an angle of 29
degrees from the horizontal, approximately at right angles to the

dam. The canyon, at the level of the river, was but little more than
200 feet wide.

The plan was to excavate the foundation site using two
hydraulic pumps; it was thought the work would be started
in a few days.

O'Rourke found it difficult to get all the labor he wanted
for the job. The spring and summer heat was one reason;
other reasons were the remoteness of the site, the difficulty of
the work, and the long hours. Asa result, O"Rourke worked
the men day and night to accomplish as much as he could
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Wiliam H. Code, irripation engineer for the Indian
Service, visited Phoenix on January 11 and informed the
Republican that proposals to bring electric power to the Gila
River Indian Reservation were being considered by the
Interior Department. Code said there were two plans. The
first was to develop hydro-power at a point between the
Arizona Canal head and Roosevelt, and the second was to
run a branch transmission line from Roosevelt Dam to the
reservation. The power was to be used to pump water from
the ground for irrigation of reservation lands, &

The high water in the river cut a new channe] that left the
head of the Appropriators’ Canal many feet away from the
main flow of water. The head either would have to be
lowered or extended. In addition, rocks and sand filled the
head for a short distance and had to be removed. The cost of
doing these things was estimated at $2,000. On January 16,
the board of directors called a meeting for January 22 to
consider an assessment of 50 cents per share. &

Benjamin Fowler returned January 18 from a two-day
trip to the head of the Arizona Canal and the Granite Reef
camp site. Fowler reported repair work on the canal was
satisfactory and nearly all the preliminary work for the
diversion dam had been completed. By this time the camp
included four bunk houses, an office building, a mercantile
store that used coupons and was operated by the
government, and a large building with concrete floor and
screened sides containing chairs and tables. In this latter
building, cigars, soda water, and ice cream were sold as a
department of the mercantile store. A little village of 20
houses built apart for Mexican laborers was known as
*Mexico.” There were 200 men in camp; common laborers
were paid $2 per day; other laborers $2 to $3; drillers, $2.75;
carpenters, $3.50 to $5; helpers, $2.50, and sub-foremen,
$3.50. The government deducted 75 cents per day for meals.
The cable tower on the south side was ready to be raised, and
excavation for the north side tower wasdone, The 2-1/2inch
cable between the towers would span 1,600 feet and would
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sag 80 feet. A cage with a capacity of 35 men was to be
attached to the cable to transport workers across the river,
The narrow gauge railroad was completed, lacking only
electricity to operate. The railroad ran to two quarries, the
most distant 3,200 fect. On the south side, the excavation for
the dam, sluice gates, and canal head gates was down to
bedrock, 6

The Republican reported January 22 that several! holders
of receivers’ certificates from the Arizona Water Co. had
received notification to forward them to the New York Trust
Co. presumably to exchange for cash. The newspaper
thought this meant the government had paid the company
the purchase price of the canals, a supposition confirmed by
Hill when he returned from Washington a few days later.
However, R. E. Miner, secretary of the water company, said
the transfer of the canals to the government was not
expected until mid-May. He said the government still had to
approve the abstracts of title to the Arizona, Maricopa, and
Grand canals. 7

Shareholders in the Appropriators’ Canal Co. voted
9,085 to 3,247 against an assessment of 50 cents per share at
their meeting January 22, By a voice vote, a levy of 15 cents
per share was adopted, but there were objections the vote
was illegal, and doubts were expressed that the directors
would be able to collect the assessment. Before the votes
were taken, the directors reported they had paid off about
314,000 of the old debt and several thousand dollars had
been spent on repairs. &

On January 26, the Republican said engineer Hill had
been furnished an automobile, a Stevens-Duryea, by the
government, and a few days later he, Mrs. Hill, Fowler,
Reclamation Service engineer Orville H, Ensign, and F. H.
Ensign traveled in the vehicle to Granite Reef. The Ensigns
were brothers, &

Demrick came in from Roosevelt and said G"Rourke’s
men for the past few days had been driving piling into the
riverbed for the new cofferdams. Demerick said the dams
were to be reinforced with concrete, 7

Hill attended a meeting of the Arizona Canal Water
Users’ Association on January 29 and announced that
because of practical ownership of the canal by the
government, the Reclamation Service would widen the 500
feet of channel between the old head and the proposed new
head. He said the ditch might not be widened as much as
some persons had suggested, but it was part of the plan for
the diversion dam construction to divert as much water as
possible through the canals. This would make the handling
of the remainder of the water by cofferdams much easier,
Hill said. 7

While the Reclamation Service intended to widen the
canal, the responsibility for construction of the rock dam
and the installation of the cable across the river remained
with the association. Alkire wrote a letter to stockholders
informing them of this, adding that they would be
responsible for maintenance and operation expenses until
October 1. He asked the shareholders to remit the
assessment of 31 per share levied December 8, He said about
two-fifths of the shares had paid. 72



